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RUSUDAN

bogomm39mmdn 0D GHdMEIbmMINm 36l d0dmhgbogmo madsd dga3nb sbemol, Gbywb C’. g%%\?rnudggwa
gomxnob bobodo dmgtama dmbghgde. godmbdhgyemns 3gmEbemal dmbgdhs, Mmdgmag

1230 Bgembos dmdemogmo.

B6C00IMN 0680MN8N
dmbghob ghom dbomgb gadmbabyemos ngbm Jbobhg, bobstgdom bgemdn. dmbghol Jodary- ANNUAL REPORT

0 d0babgho 0dd396900. “EO3bYLD. PILMBIMO EEMBImms, dd33690s §399babo o
ba6BE36mgdbY, Blywsb, sbymo madatabs, dgboal mey3sbabaggdgema”. 2016

A number of coins have been discovered, which were forged during the reign of Queen Rusudan, the
daughter of the most revered Georgian Queen Tamar. A silver coin issued in 1230 stands out clearly. On
one side, there is an image of Jesus Christ with the New Testament in his hands. The legend in Georgian
says: “Rusudan”. “Queen of queens, the beauty of the land and the faith, Rusudan, daughter of Tamar and
the adorer of the Messiah”.
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30M®a0 3dMOIbI V30 (93d-80MMAN)
GIORGI IV LASHA (LASHA-GIORGI)

b30gmgbdol dmbgho 1210 Bggmbos dmdMogmoa. dob Jotmymo o
b3amUbymo Babbghgon 9dd3z9bgob.

A copper coin of 1210 decorated with the
Georgian and Persian legends.

ADDRESS OF THE CHAIRPERSON OF THE
SUPERVISORY BOARD

Ladies and Gentlemen!

On behalf of the Supervisory Board of ,Cartu Bank“ JSC, I'd like
to thank to the management, staff and partners for successful
completion of 2016 and their contribution to the Bank’s
uninterrupted and stable work.

During its two decades of operation, the Bank has gone through
some important stages as a financial institution contributing

to progress of the country. The main mission of ,Cartu Bank"

is funding the fields that support the business sector and the
Georgian economy as such.

I'm glad to say that 2016 proved to be successful for the Bank.
In this regard, I'd like to single out the survey conducted by the
international “Fitch” rating company as a result of which ,Cartu
Bank" preserved ,B+ stable prospects® IDR (Issuer Default
Rating), which testifies to its robust potential.

| congratulate the Bank on reopening the service center in the
Thilisi Vake district and wish them all the best.

Over the past 20 years, the Bank has made significant
contribution to the economic strength of the country.
| wish success to the management and staff of ,Cartu Bank".

MR. NIKOLOZ CHKHETIANI

chairperson of the supervisory board

1O3JIMZOIIMAM LOdIMUL
00393©M30MNL 3030M0)30

dmaggbomadgdom!

bL ,00630 Jotmyb* badgmzemyytgm Lodgmb
030200m3ddM0L babgom, doEMdsl 3ybn 3630l
d9692896(hb, 0065ddGOMBNgoLY d dobHbomEmgAL
2016 Bemab 6o®mdohgdnm ©sbmymgdabs ©

006300 dgy9396bgdgmn o bhodogmydo dydomdnl
1861b39emymaz0dn B3emagmal dg@hobobmazab.

d0bgd 9¢03b0dbm, ™3 Bbdgombatgdal mEbemosbo
obhmeool dobdogmbg 0563dd 3bnd3bgemmaabo ghodgon
300060, Mmam Loggnbdbbm nbLEHBYHOL, dbg39,
939460l 30630006900l §M0gmdn. 65630 JobmnLb dmozamn
dobno 03 LEgO™goolL ORNbBLYIY, MMmTgmng byl
d916ygmob d0d3bgbLggdhmMab dkrsl, boagobmzgmmb
93mbmdngal 3ob30m060gdoby s godeoghgosb.

dmbodymmo 306, Gmd 2016 bggmo d3630bm300L
Bo®ddhgdymo 3¢dmhbs. 3bbagnm®gonm smbobndbos
boghmadmbobm bathgohnbgam 3maddabos ,Fitch“-ob dogb
hohotmgdyemo dmMogn 33emg39, Mmdwob dgogasm 0063
Joboyb dgnbo®hybros IDR-0b (Issuer Default Rat-

ing) Ggohnban ,B+ Lhodogmyho 3g0bdgdhzo”, Mo
dobo bodgog&mabs o bhadomymam 3obznmamgonl
3900dggoEm0O7d0b M33embRnbm dogomamns.

39mE303 0063L 30300 gabobemgdyemo bghzabgbhtab
30bbboL o Podmsg Losbemgl 3nbyG390 dmdogzagmdo.

20 Bgmob dobdogmBg gobbmdpngemgdyemo bagdosbmdnm
00630 Jommyd madbgymo B3gmagma dgodhobs s dgagsb
300093 bagom3z9mML g93mbmdngalb gobodwnghgdemac
00 3obboznmatgdmaco.

00630 Jotoyb d9692d9b¢LS o 3memgdhosl 3ybydzgd
39003m0d 3063000060505L0 S BobL3g.

603MTMd AbIDNJ60
bOdgm39MYYEOgM LOdFML M3d2MAdMY

B30 86350080 | D1 [ 7]
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ADDRESS OF THE CEO

Ladies and Gentlemen!

I’m glad to report the success “Cartu Bank” JSC made in 2016.
From the very beginning, the Bank has been funding the projects
targeted at development of the Georgian economy, support to the
local, import-substituting and export-oriented production.

We are proud to say that as a result of the survey conducted by the
international “Fitch” rating company in 2016, Cartu Bank” preserved
“B+ stable prospects” IDR (Issuer Default Rating), which testifies to
its stability and reliability.

It is also noteworthy that “Cartu Bank” is regularly diversifies its
portfolio by industries and regions. Owing to our efforts, quite a few
sectors in Georgia have been revitalized substituting the import with
the exported products.

Here I'd like to mention a new trend: just a few years ago, import
was prevalent in the Georgian economy. Correspondingly, the loans
issued for funding the import were dominant in the Bank portfolio.
Today, the trade has gone down to the 4 position with 16% share,
while the production, service, real property and construction sectors
are sharing the first three positions with 24-24% shares each. We
issued up to 5% loans to the agricultural sector with the remaining
7% of the loan portfolio distributed to the others.

We are committed to our sustainable development strategy targeted
at active support to the national business sector and general
contribution to the Georgian economy.

| wish to say “Thank you” to our customers but for them our
success would not have been complete. We are determined to
keep working for them in order to produce the most flexible and
customer-specific products.

Two decades of operation testify to our motivation, excellent
team work, professionalism and determination to make Georgia
prosperous.

MS. NATO KHAINDRAVA

CEO

©263N IR0
[ ﬂ ] c’. CARTU BANK

8J6JdMOIMN ©NOIIOMGOL
3080Mm030

30()033907™ Jomoddh™mbgdm o dohmbgom,

dmbo®ymo 306 dmaabbgbmo bL 00630 Jobmyb“ 2016 Bgemb
doebgnemo Babdanhgdgdal momdsdy:

0mbb0dbo300, M3 39630 MLIONL EEEOD 893060670
36mggdhgol, dmdgmgdog dodommymo ogm bagdotmzgmmb
93mbmdngal gobznmatgdody, swanmmamaga Batdmgoal
bgemdgbymoobe o 0d3mM“hdgdpzemgmo s 9Judmbbhdy
m®0gb(h06m9dymo 66dmgdnl ox30686b790887.

h3gbm30l boodeygms 2016 Byl baghmadmmabm
batgohobam gmddobos ,Fitch*-ob doge haghotgdnemo dmbogn
330939, Mmdgmol 390093000083 0063 Jotmyb dgybsehnbos
IDR-0b (Issuer Default Rating) Ggo¢obgo ,B+ bsdogmyto
396b3g9H030“. 00bodbygmo bamema dghy3gemgdl,dmd dsbgn
bheooEY®O o bandgme.

0®b0d360b wo®dbns ob Boghog, GmA 03630 Joboy dywdnzaE
obgbl dmbho3gmol otamdtg s Mganmbomym
©00396L0330303000. H3gbo dognabbdgznm bagdotmzgemadn
06096030 dMZdd anbym smmMdnbgdy, obg3g, 0d3meMHob

Hobopgemgoy o 8d3000 9dLdme®dgEs.

dogmBgro m30embohnbmo 3930930 hgbogbino: gobymm
Bomgddo, Bmaems bagdoemzgmmb g3mbmdogobs ©s,
dgLoddnboc, 09630L dmbHa3gedn $oM0MO©S 0d3mbHo
dob obea3065bbgomo 3oEgdygmn bgbbgodo.

mg0bdm30b 30gGMmo0l byghm®as 09630l dmbhHozgemdo
39-4 3mB0i30087 300bdE3mMS 16%-0060 Bogmam, bmenm
30639em b 3mB0ENddY AbNbyGMEs Botmdmgdal bgghma,
dmadbobymgodal boyghm, ndemogn Jmbgdabs s ddgbgdenmdnl
03030 24-24%-00b0 00630060 Bogngdnm. 8ddbmob, 5%-
dog 39083Mo bmagemab dgy®bymaonl bydhm®dy goEgdyema
bgbbgdolb Bogma, begnm dmMHngmal ebsMhgbn 7% - bbgs
©05Mag089 3oababngme.

h396 dh30390 303030 3MO©0 3ob30:0MYdL LHMI(HYENL,

Mmdgmob dodobos 9399bal dobdheonm 60d8bgblgdHmMal
dghonmo dbobadgho o, dgbodedobsc, bagdotmzgmmmb
930bm3030b 3obgnmamgdsdn wombgymo bzgmogmal dghobe.

dby®b doeemmds gowoznbowm Ag96L dmadbotgdmgdbeg, dom
33tMgdg bmad hzgbo Bo®mdohgds o6 0gdbgdmes b&mymangmo.
dmdo30emdn 396 33emo3 3o393Mdgemgdm nbhgbboy®
33700m00b domm30b, 3ogb0dogmyMsE 3MInMOAHI0 © dom
dmmbm3zb998g dmemzgdnemo dhmoydhgdolb dgbogdbgmaco.

00630 ooyl 20-6gmnobo dmezabgmdnl gdo dobo
byemob3390900b, 3yboal bodgmoghol, 3magbombagnoddal
303mbodhyemgds o BN LodoMmzgmml
dgmoggdobeggb.

630 bdN6PMV30

396gMsmyho ohgdhmdo

B b L A

80M®a0 3dMMbd ©0d0 (V0d0-30M™AN)
GIORGI IV LASHA (LASHA-GIORGI)

dmbgdo 1210 bgambos dmgtogmo o
b30ggbdabgoabos adBagdymo.

A copper coin of 1210.

s
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MISSION, VISION AND CORE VALUES OF THE BANK

»00630 Jo@myb“ daboo

hz960 doboos, Pdogengbo bababbab gdbiemndoy®o boggnbobbm
dmdbabygoob gdom, gobbogymtgdnemo B3emomo dg30¢obmm
939960l d60d3b9¢mm3960 aMRgd0l 3obznmemgdsdo.

baw3s

bL ,,00630 Jobmy” gobgds gedmmhgnemo boggnbablbm
0bbhohnho, dmdgmog:

)

bagommzgmmadn 899abal gmeMdmemodngmo 3eogbhgol
99b3emnB809M0 dmababydgool Lhobwobhl;

39h03900b dmEIEmdnm bhadomye dwanmb ©an30390L
bEOO63M LobRHgdob emoghms Lddgymlb dméab;
©33033m3dHadge 0d6gds dorem3zammagz03nge0 ©o
dmbH0300909m0 JoM9d0m;

300b33ymGm g0 B3magmb dg0hobl Azgbo J399b0b
93Mbm30300L Mool o d086gL0b gobgnmamgdsdo;
bHOdNEYMOE 3odMEAL Lagyma akgdymgdgdl, Hmymb
3J30mbgeme, 81933, 3e0gb(hg00LdM30L, MVE OLIONMI©
0dmgdgc090L, Bmaoo, 39960 dmbabemgmdnl 3bmatmgdol
©mbob 8dotmgdsdy.

doGomdo gabgymmdgdo

>

domagmo batobbob dmdbobyhgds s mommgyemo
3m096(h0bodn gMmoacco odm3ngdymads;
bOOObZM 3B MEYIHgoal beymymanmo ©s
0603000090 M3360 303900;

0mdbdotgdgemdy dmbdagdnmo mebodgodmag oo
06m30307600 3068bbYM0 gosbyzghomgdgdo;
36ma3gbombagmo JoMygdo.

863N RO
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Mission of “Cartu Bank” JSC

We view it as our mission to make a special contribution to the
priority industries by means of top quality exclusive financial

service

Vision

Cartu Bank will become an outstanding financial institution
that will:

set the exclusive corporate client service standard in
Georgia;

secure a place among the top three players of the Geor-
gian banking sector in terms of the total assets;

have highly-qualified and motivated staff;

make a special contribution to the economic growth and
business development in the country;

steadily increase its shareholder and customer value in
order to make a positive impact on the national living
standards.

CORE VALUES

> high-quality service and loyalty to customers;

> afull package of versatile banking products;

> customer-specific and innovative financial solutions;
> highly-qualified staff.

006406 LOMITOIMO
STRUCTURE OF THE BANK

bodgm3zomynmgm bodgm:

> B03MLMB AbIONV6B0
bdgm3omYYMgm LodFML Mo332MmBokg

> 6003 Yo0AO30
badgm3zomyMgm Ladgmb bg3to

> 30136 ©JaNbodantn
badgmzomyyMgm Ladgmb bgztn

30dabmymgdgemo d9b93dgbeo:

> Bo0M boN6P®O30
39696omym0 okgdhmto

> 8030 €2306060dJ
230606L3M0 okgdhmto

> ©00300) 6003083020
™3gMo30900b obgdhmtn

> BJIMOod 3(MBJ0
30396300 ohgdhmbo

> 0JJ0 330MOBbITNY
0b3go0b okgdhma

Supervisory Board

> MR. NIKOLOZ CHKHETIANI

Chairperson of the Supervisory Board

> MS. NATELA KALICHAVA

Member of the Supervisory Board

>  MS. ETERI DEMINASHVILI

Member of the Supervisory Board

Executive Management

»  MS. NATO KHAINDRAVA
Chief Executive Officer

»  MR. GIVI LEBANIDZE
Chief Financial Officer

> MR. DAVID GALUASHVILI
Chief Operations Officer

» MR. ZURAB GOGUA
Chief Commercial Officer

»  MR. BEKA KVARATSKHELIA
Chief Risks Officer

BCNION 9636MHN3()
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Job®Ju0 8aM3¢JeJo
0063006 LOM®N0A0

Y Loghmadmmobem babgahnbgm 3mddsbos ,Fitch“-ab
dog® hohohgdymo dmbogo 33emg30b dgwgasm 2016
Bemob 25 donbb, 3maddebos ,Fitch“-ds 00630 Jobob
dg9bo®hnbo IDR-0b (Issuer Default Rating) Mgo¢hobgo
.B+ bhodogmyho 396b3gdhozo” Moy 3b0d369¢mm3bog
009b3M9d0 3963b LHddaEYHE 3ob3znmaMgoodo;

Y 00630 Jobmyb bLEMSe3 WM 3do360¢mgdL ogdode
obagmo Lobhgdo - ,,3mbdhedho”;

Y 2016 bgmab 24 mghmddghl, goobbbo 00b30 Jobmyl
30300 3obobgmgdnmoa bgh3z0bEgbh®o;

Y 2016 bgemb godmoge 00630 Jobmnb 20 Bemab
0300g0bogdo dodemzbogmo gohommaon - ,20 bgemo 100
36mgho“. 9¢0bodbyem 3odmEgdado dsb30L mEbemnabo
303069300 dobdogmBg ox30606b9dymm0 yzgemady
dbbzogmo o J39460bm30L 3b0dzbgemmazabo dGmagdhgdns
Botdmoagbogmn.

863N RO
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RECENT
HIGHLIGHTS

> As aresult of the survey conducted by
the international “Fitch” rating company
on 25 May 2016, Cartu Bank preserved
“B+ stable prospects” IDR (Issuer Default
Rating), which is going to make the Bank
more stable;

> Anew “Contact” system was added to the
“Cartu Bank’s” money transfers;

> On 24 October 2016, the Bank’s renovated
service center opened in the Thilisi Vake
district;

> Highlighting the 20 year jubilee of the
Bank, 20 Years 100 Projects” catalogue
setting out the biggest and most significant
projects the Bank had funded was
published in 2016.

aM3™J BNB66LIMA d660MNBN

2016 Bgemo LL ,,00630 Jo0oyb” abhmMosdo gbhm-ghmo
939em0dg Bobdshgdyemo Bgemo agm. 0dsb d9b30b 30686L7Ma

doh39690emgdnE 3mBIMAL.

BRIEF FINANCIAL REPORT

As made evident by the financial indicators
below, 2016 was one of the most successful in

the Bank’s history.

O0OL MY IdAN 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

IN THOUSAND GEL

90E20060 0I003300 414,703 594,261 762,512 1,192,724 1,420,363
TOTAL ASSETS

63060 LILEIGD 262,148 396,297 543,035 824,618 854,338
NET CREDITS

020060 3¥EVRABYT00 237,361 317,421 480,388 916,319 1,142,170
TOTAL LIABILITIES

LOLISIBOOD SMHOBITN 66,623 173,786 319,687 597,946 747,610
DEPOSIT PORTFOLIO

L00dBOM 803000E0 177,315 276,840 282,124 276,405 278,193
SHARE CAPITAL

LI 2300bo3ERIA0 41,355 86,215 67,499 166,147 155,541
TOTAL INCOMES

LIE? BOOFIO0 28,335 15,014 47,275 107,206 80,289
TOTAL COSTS

63062 B0BIO/BOGITN 13.020 11201 20,224 58,001 15252
NET PROFIT/LOSS

0O653BOMBITMS GIMDVIEMSd 93 313 226 14 s

NUMBER OF STAFF

S 1K



0030M-0300)
TAMAR-DAVID

dmbghd 0033M0bS 8 8300 bmbEMsbab dgeamdnlb EMmL, 1200 Bgmbss dmgdo-
0. dob 9o dbabglb JoMaom Hbl madotalbs s agomab babgmmgdol abogo-
0mg00. 3mbghodg Jobmymo s gotsymo Baebgmgdns: “IEMAdMO ILM-
Q®, 33396900 J399060Ld o LEMBEIYEMYINLY, MaddMn, sbymo gomemaobs,
dgboolb moy3060L3Egdgemn”.

The coin forged in 1200 during the reign of Queen Tamar and David Soslan, her husband. On
the one side, it bears the initials of Tamar and David. The legends in Georgian and Hebrew
say: ““Queen of queens, the beauty of the land and the faith, Tamar, daughter of Giorgi and the
adorer of the Messiah”.

[ et

MO0 00080. 3d®BLEVN. 01602 0L0. 1806 b.
TWO ABAZIS. SILVER. TBILISI. 1806

1804 bgemb moogmobdn 9003069L BoMaazbabs, ooy ngMgdms Jommymbambytmnsbo 3gmEbmaby o
b3ngmgbdal a3ycmo ghggemg 11-0b PO Mbogmo B Lobhgdom, Gmdmab Y360bgbo ghmgymo Eabobon nym,
M0mEgbmds 30 dmbghedy Jobmyemo sbmgonm ownbodbgdmeo. dotoxbobs dmgddggdws 1834 bemadog o
460000 3903bemal mMadod03bg3L (“y” 400), 3058006300 (“b” 200), bobgzaMadad0sbgdl (“®” 100). bdngmgbdol
0obL (“3” 20), bobggzat dabhL (“0” 10) o yemb (“9” 5).

In 1804, the Russian rulers of Georgia restored the Mint in the capital Thilisi, where the silver and copper coins bearing the Georgian
legends were forged according to the monetary system operational during the reign of King Erekle 1. Dinar was the smallest denomi-
nation coin, with the figure carved in the Georgian letters. The Mint operating until 1834 issued the silver coins worth two abazis (“y”
400), abazis (“b” 200), half-abazis (,&" 100), copper bists (,3"“ 20) and half-bists (,0“ 10) and paper money (,,9 5).

50060 06850080 | D16 [ 15 ]



LOSMIVNOM 30H3IBAOTJBN

00630 Jodogb Loghgoohm dododmymgdobmazal 2016 bgemo
3603369¢mm3060 ngm. dgbodhbgzns Ladgomm s dbbzngma
3m096(h930L MomEYbmdnl Bho.

Y boghgoohm dmbhagmol dmEymmds 5%-000 3ondokos
00 927 dgmb maml goooddoMoy;

»  B30bs Lgbbgdolb dmEymmosd dgowanbs - 854.3 dmb
mohn, Moy BoMdmoagbb dmemaoba bgbbgdolb 91.18%,
bomm 006306 dmemaoba oghogzgdal - 60.1%-b;

Y boobgamndm JgMomol dmemmb dob3al LogMgoohm
3mbHa3geab bodomm dgbmbognds dgdmbagemnabmdnl
doh396909¢mdd Bemoy®o 11.94% dgoanbs, 2015 Bemal
dgbodedobo doh3gbgdemo 3o 12.67% oym.

bb ,,00630 Joboy” BatBmoagbl Mo Lodyomm ©

dbbgogmo 3086gb0b Bodyzebo 3md3obagdalb gtadgemasnsb
dobhbom®mb, bhodomyhow sgtdgmgdl magobo dobool
dgbmyegool - Bzgmagmo dgog3b J39y9babomazal bytohganymsm
3603369¢mm3060 aMRg00b gobznmamgoodo.

2016 Bggmb 006330 33gmeg dgbmogads mag0b dmdbdotgdemgdl
3990930 LogMgohm 30mamsedgdo:

Y 033mbHdgdpgemgeo Bo®dmgonl ozMgoodhgdol
3O mamads;
Y qbgmy®o d086gb0b goabznmbgdal ozMgoahgdnl
3O mamads;
Y 3oty o badgemm 308bgbob zMgEahgdalb dhmamods;
Y 99b3mbH-0d3mb b bogaghm mdghsgngdob
bgemdgbymdnl 3Gmamads.

00630 Joboy, abg3g, 9gdHoPma sMab haddymo
bobgemdbogmb dogh nbogntgdyem 3G mgdnhgddo:

Y 09003500360 33MMm3MgE0daL 3O macmodal dndobos
03903969000, 33MaMyma 3md3abogdobs o bmagmal
dg90bgmdadn hotmyemo 030803300 306 gdal bgemdgbymods
00030, 3Mdgem30000060 s bgmdnbobzwmdn a3ymocn
babbegdnm PBGY639emymMaz0l gdoom.

863N RO
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CREDIT INDICATORS

2016 stood out in terms of the credits issued by “Cartu
Bank” and, also, considerable increase of the number of
medium size and major customers.

» the credit portfolio increased by 5% to exceed
927 m GEL;

>  the net credits made up 854.3 m GEL, i.e. 91.18%
of the total credits and 60.1% of the Bank'’s total
assets;

> by the end of the reporting period, the average
weighted profitability indicator of the Bank’s credit
portfolio was 11.94% as against 12.67% in 2015.

“Cartu Bank” JSC, a long-standing partner of the medi-
um size and major business companies remains true to
its mission of support to the strategic national industries.

In 2016, the Bank offered its customers the credit pro-
grams below:

»  program for crediting the import-substituting pro-
duction;

>  program for crediting the network business develop-
ment;

> small and medium size business crediting program;

»  program for support to export-import trade transac-
tions.

Also, “Cartu Bank” JSC is closely involved in the
State-initiated programs:

>  Preferential Agro Credit program is designed for
support to the farmers, agricultural companies and
persons engaged in the agricultural sector by way
of provision of affordable, long-term and preferential
funds.

3G m9dHob dodomso dmboggdgdo:

36 mggdhob obabyabo - 20 dobhn, 2013 Bgmo;
00630 Jodogb dogh dbmgdhob g3obdaengddo 2016 Bgemb
00030606L9079em00 - 28 3e0gbho, domBg 3oEgdnmos 20.1 dgmb
oMol mEgbmdal bgbbgodo;

®  3Mmgdhob 200300 dmbmegmo 31.12.2016 Hemob
doamdotgmdom - 48,651,829 modo.

Y 03Mahgdol 3hmag®msedodn ,,0bMdmg bogomzgemmdn”
300m0yme30 3 dodotmyemgodo:

1. abE3bhG®ogma 636ngmo - bgeml 36gmdl bagobmagmmdo
Botdmgdedg mG0gbho®mgdyemo 0boybh®ogdol gobznmatgdab,
obogmo bobaedmgdal dgddbab/odbgdnema babatdmgdal
3000HMMg08/3300000630gddb.
00b0dbymo dododmmyemgdol s3obammgddo 0063ds Jobmyd
0009300060 MdmEgbndy sbogmo Babdmgds bogmgda dgbhoned
00 do0admnsbo Mgaombgddo, 396dme, dowegdmnsb Modgabs
8 09mmabyahmb Manmbdo.

2. beogmab dgy®m63mdab 63bogma - Lodyagmgdsl sdgmgsl
dbyh3zgemgdl dgddbob obagmo b gobognmammb Lodyomm s
dbbgogmo babo®dmgon bmegmob dgymbgmdolb atado.

3. babhyddem abybh®oalb bdbogma - 3HMaGMoL ogdadhd
2016 Bemogob o 36mongmos babgmbmegdom ,,303b306demg
bogdommzgemdn“. 53 6oBogmal d0dobos gobsgnmotmb
9300mbg0d0 LobhYOIMYd0L d08bgbo, Goms dom dgdenmb
130b306dgmmb gognmgdom dgd HdaLEHL.

30mgdhob doGomdpo dmboggdgdon:

36mggdhob obabyobo - 1 03bobo, 2014 bggmo
00630L Jobmyb dogh 2016 bgemb 11.6 dgmb gmamob mEgbmdnl
bgbbom EOWNbbLYLYMNd 11 gemagbho

®  3Mmgdhob 200900 dmbhoezgemo 31.12.2016 bemab
dogmdatmgmdom - 30,219,065 mato

2017 Bemobmgol 30630 Jobmybmzab 33eme3 dhomboahghameo odhgds
939460L g3mbmadnzobamanl 360d3bgemm3sbo otagdal - bemazemaly
399Mbgmdnl, 0d3mM“dgdzmgmo o gdbdmbdddy mmogbhotgdymo
Bodmgdol gobznmotgdo.

The project details:

® Jaunch - 20 March 2013;

® in 2016, “Cartu Bank” provided 20.1 m GEL
loans to 28 customers;

® on 31.12.2016, the total project portfolio
made up 48,651,829 GEL.

> ,,Produce in Georgia” crediting program has
three components

1. Industry — support to the businesses
focusing on local production, setting up/
expansion/re-equipment of the new ones.
Within this context, “Cartu Bank” funded
several new businesses in somewhat back-
ward and mountainous regions, namely
Racha and Tetritskaro.

2. Agriculture — support to the entities and
persons wishing to set up or develop the
medium size and major agricultural enter-
prises;

3. Hotel Industry - referred to as “Host in
Georgia” was added to the program in
2016. Its aim is development of the hotel
business in the regions so that they could
host a much larger number of tourists.

The Project details:

® Jaunch -1 June 2014;

® in 2016, “Cartu Bank” provided 11.6 m GEL
loans to 11 customers;

® on 31.12.2016, the total project portfolio
made up 30,219,065 GEL.

Funding the national agriculture, furthering the im-
port-substituting and export-oriented production will
remain the Bank priority in 2017.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

®0b3go0b dohmznlb gdotpadgbholb dogh 2016 Bgmb
300bm®mE0ge 900 bgdnabmonEab ombobodbazns dgdwgan:

The following stands out among the activities of
the Risk Management Department in 2016:

030606LM0 GH0b3go0l dothmzal gobymazngmgdal dogm
390300300 bdzMgohm dmMhozgmal bobgmmdnmo
306396 G0l botobbmddogn Mabgobmgal bogobm
30300l 0y0396M0b g3odmbsmzmgo dgmMmEMEMaN,
MmIgmog 00033dbgdyms, bagMgoohm dmbhozgeal IF-
RS-0l dobg30m, 301930b96gd0b aboabanl hgdgtzol
300030M0dg00bob doggdyem dyomgoyc do0adghMgddy;

bagbgahm dmdhagmol dmbodhm®bznl
300gma30m9d0d0 d0bghas 3mddobogdal sbogmndol
obagmo bobhgds, Mmdgmog 3maddseboalb yobengbo
030606LyM0 doh39b90emgd0bs o doMnmoo
3099303096 900L @odmygbgonm mommyyem 3maddobosl
03hmAs(hMaE 8b0ggol Mabolb Jgmab;

0mb0dbyemo bobhgdob dgd3g9mdnm dgbadgngdgemny
oM 9hoddg3g 0dbgb smdmhgbogma 606300
dbgbbgogmab 030606LM0 bLodmyemggdo s dmbgl
bgbbgoab dgbodemm 1bdgotagdal Mgdghzal Btgonl
00300000 930emg0s;

2016 Bgmob dobydyemlb 606330 anbym bam3ghozom
M0b3g00b dse®mobzal Hygdbmemmanyto, m30b5060380
0 bobhgdMo dbogm dmEgmdy dydomods, Gmdemal
03b9Ma303 2017 Bemob dobdogmdyg 0g393dgos dmgddo,
00939, 3m033L 05630L 0bdddEOMAgNgdab 36MANgMgdal
0300emgdsl bomdghsgom Gabzgdal ggmbom, Mg
0063d0 Lom3ghogom Mabzgool Batdongdymo dobmaal
36033b69¢mm306 306mdsb BoGdmaagbl.

263N IR0
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the Financial Risk Management Division
developed the methodology to measure the
capital buffer required for the qualitative risk
of single-name concentration in loan portfolio
based on the IFRS interim parameters of
computing the credit portfolio impairment
allowance;

a new system analyzing the companies was
introduced by the Credit Portfolio Monitoring
Division. By applying their updated financial
indicators and key indexes the system
automatically assigns a risk score to each of
them;

the system is designed for early detection of
a Bank borrower’s financial difficulties in order
to prevent increase of the possible loan loss
reserve;

in late 2016, the Bank started working

on a brand new model for registering the
operational risks to be introduced in 2017.
Also, the project involves raising the staff
awareness in terms of the operational risks
relevant to their efficient management.

0108000 - 3M6BJN0O 1187 BITLOY 3MIGOVN
TAMAR — COIN DATED WITH 1187

b30gmgbdal dmbghob ghom dbstgh 3oMadwE 030mbgds MddaMob bgeem3s: 003360 s Jobmymo 6ambgmo.
dmbghnb dgmtg dbatgl, 9.6. 830389 9GO 330mbIEMIM ,gEMAIMN 0oy, 33396900 §399babs
0 bLd®BABMYoabY MEdaM, dbymo gomeanbs, dgbnol May3960bdE3gdgemoa. gobonmb WAghmadsb demgzeba dolbo,
30000Mmb dghmdsb oEgds dnbo, gobsgmdmlb htaoga dobo s 3obadhaznEmb Jgmomoemgmds dabn”.

On the one side of the cooper coin, there is the ligature: “Tamar” and a legend in Georgian. The Arabic legend on the reverse side of the
coin says: “Tamar, the great queen, the beauty of the land and the faith, daughter of Giorgi and the adorer of the Messiah. Let the God
make her victorious, glorious and bestow her with a long life and welfare”.
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a0M®a0 aduboaly ®GML aMI®O0 3MBeI0
A COIN FORGED DURING THE REIGN OF GIORG! IlI

30mMan dgbadol ( 1156-1184 66.) hmb bogomzgmmdo dmgdoga dmbgdo
b30gmgbdabos. dob Job MMM S 3OO BabByMgdn 5dd39690b. dmbghob dgmg dbatgl
3600 Bghos: “d9x39 dga3gma omMan, dg gdgdh®dgbo, dgboolb dsbgogmo”. bdngmgbdal
dmbghody godmbabymm gomman dgbadgh dotz3960 bgemdg dg30Mgba oBob. dmbgde Lodmb
23000000 LobgeEmdnL bagobmzgemmb dydgnddns EoEHo.

A copper coin forged during the reign of Giorgi Ill decorated with the legends in the Georgian and Arabic
languages. The Arabic legend on its reverse side says: “Giorgi, king of kings, son of

Demetre, the sword of the Messiah”. On the one side of the coin we see Giorgi I1l with a falcon on his right
hand. The coin is preserved in Simon Janashia National Museum of Georgia.

LOOIMAMI 6086310

00630 Jobmy 9bab do6ggmo Jobomygmo 3mdgdEomo dsb30,
mdgmdog doowmm VISA o MasterCard-ob dmdbobygdol

039680900 gemgdhrmbym 308mMdsd0 s EeMgdog 0bsMAnbgdl
™0ghmodl od dodobomyemgonm.

00bobndbozny, Mmd 2016 Bymb goghdgemos sMbgonmo

306 Bhbom&o md0gdhgdol dmadbobymgds o sbagma 3mddobogdol
dmBnc30. LogagMm o dmadbsbymgdol mdngdhgddo baghmm
06163038 dg0a0bs - 17,5 dogmombo 0dd mmoto, Gog 6%-00
d9dh0o B0bod Bemol dohgzgbgdgemdy.

2016 Bemab gobdozemmdsdn gem. 3mdgdinal d0dbgbo
06hgbLOYGOE 3ob300M0MEs. oxmMdos byemdgztymgds

56 3003306000006, dom Lonhgodg demobhngntna dobdmgdom
3000bgonb PB3MY639emyma3nl momdsdy. basbgotmodm Bemal
0memb gem. 3mdghool bezghmdo habomymo mdngdhgdol
0omgbmdsd dgoanbs - 231, bughmm 6636353 - 34 demb 5dd
MM, bmmm BaMdsahgonmo HMebdogingdol Gomogbmaosd -
2,5 dogmombo h®obdogine.

2016 Bgomb abmymos badsmomyg bobhgdob (Hgdbogy®o dsdab
30b0bgmgds o Lomaotngm (DR) Longob 3mgdhdyg dydomods.
boddMomg  dmdbobytgdolb dodwmgdo  Jemogbhgdobmazol d9b30L
bobhgdgon gobo yu3tm LEGVNN, dmbsbgyhbgdgmn s bandgom.

2016 Bgomb onbym 13mbhodhm demobhngnto domemgdnl
bgdHngosacmgdal dGhmygoyMgdo.

CARD BUSINESS

“Cartu Bank” is the first commercial bank
in Georgia holding the Visa and MasterCard
licenses for rendering e-commerce services
and it retains its leadership to this day.

In 2016, the Bank continued rendering
services to its partner enterprises and also
attracted the new corporate clients. The total
turnover at the commercial and service points
made up 17.5 m USD, which is 6% over than
in the year before.

In 2016, e-commerce was developing rapidly.
Contracts on website payments by plastic
cards were executed with 56 companies. By
the end of the reporting year, 231 companies
were engaged in e-commerce, with their total
turnover reaching 34 m USD and the number
of effected transactions — 2.5 m.

In 2016, the card system was upgraded and
the DR site project implemented making the
Bank systems more rapid, flexible and reliable
for card users.

Certification of swipe cards started in 2016.
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2016 Bgmob dobdogmBg Laghmadmmobm yhmoghmmogdol
09306 (Hodgbhob dmbsbogngmdom gobbmdEngmo
399930 mmbabdogdgoo:

Y dmbo dmgdg Lodebzm ok Hbombgdmob
06L7dImM0 PYOMgemmOgonlb dgdamdo bEEymNe.
30606, Hodmysmndd msboddhmdmmds
obagm bmym Lodebzm 0bbhnhIHIdmab, Jg@dmo,
2016 Bgmob 0063003n 3onbbbs bazmGgldmbogbihm
0b6go®m0dgon Gbyem ROSBANK-G0 (Gbygmo Gyomo,
000 mmoko, g3tm), bommm bmgddghdo - gzbmb
0bgohndn gghdobyem LBBW-do;

Y 30bobemeod dmmsdotmoggogdn d3gem dobhbom,
boghmadm®mabm b3nbabbm 0bbhhyhdmeb (EBRD,
BSTDB) Loghgoohm bodgdal gobobemgdads. sbgag
0039g0M00 3900 bagdnobo YJhmoghmmdgon sbogn
300 HbomEm7dmb;

> Lb,,00630 Joboyb” BocdmBoagbemgdn
3dmboBogmgmdbgb BSTDB-0b ymzgmmbemayt 608690
am6mndab dydomodsdn, Mmdgmog hopatmos 2016 Bemal
doobdo, d. dmgbdo;

Y 00bgMas LBEMOG3N a3emson gBezbogmgdal bobhgds -
CONTACT;

> SWIFT-0b dog® nbogntmgdyem baghmadmmabm
bogbmostm bobhgdado (‘KYC Registry’)
30bbmMEngms 00630 Job oyl dgbobgd dmboizgdgdol
39hobo o 9Om00b Jugemdo 0bhgatoEny;

> LOgOMITMMOLM bddB3M ohagmadn - The Bank-
ers’ Almanac - 50306000 ©d 3obmaogbs b ,00630
Joboyb” dgbobgd yzgme Logocm dmboggdo.

263N IR0
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INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS

In 2016, the International Relations Department
accomplished the following:

>  ties with partner banks were strengthened and
the ones with the foreign banking institutions were
forged. Namely, in January 2016, correspondent
accounts (USD, EUR, RUB) were opened with the
Russian ROSBANK, while in November the one in
euro was opened in the German LBBW;

>  negotiations on resumption of the credit lines were
re-launched with the long-standing partner inter-
national financial institutions, such as EBRD and
BSTDB and business relationships were forged with
the new ones;

> in May 2016, a “Cartu Bank” JSC team participated
in BSTDB annual business forum in Athens;

> new money transfer ,,Contact” was introduced;
> the data on “Cartu Bank” JSC were incorporated in
the SWIFT-initiated international KYC Registry and

integrated in the uniform network;

> the data on “Cartu Bank” JSC were uploaded to the
international The Bankers’ Almanac catalogue.

LANBBM®3VBNM OJIBMLMA0JB0

bo0baMmMAdE0M (Hygbmemmangdol gdothodgbhobmaal
0mbobndbozns 2016 Bgmb gabbmmEngmgdymo dgdpgan
36magghgoo:

Y Bo®3o(g00m obtms dngMains sbagm bobghgghm
bobhgdg0dg. 3ogdzs bamaamngm Labgmzghm
bobhgds. bobhgdgde dggddbogmos baghmadmmabm
bhobodHgd0l dobgwzom o LG skl oY
L,030ML-35mMYm0* bodhyoEngdabaob;

> 00630L doge dgdgbogm 0gdbs Lvyemna dbogmo
bbyM396™ s LdJbgEM d38M¥HYMS S oM goal
bobHgdgdn. ddobobyMs dgdgbogmns, GmamM3
0690, 8139, d9damdo bymo Bemolb dmmbmzbol
30m30¢0bbBobgonm. dobo dmaMgds brogds
do®omo Ldbghzghmdn, bmem, Lymoshngm
bobghzgtm Batdmoagbl dgbadg ydmolanL;

»  0gdgbogm 0gdbsd Cisco 306mdob bogbgemm d30GhYOs,
Hewlett-Packard Enterprise bobghzghm a3oGmobhydo,
0emg0gool GHomEgbmos - 12, 306mhscmytho
b9G39Mg00l GHdMEbmos - 120, 2 abiyta
dobn30 96 ob3nm, 239Ma godmbaygbgdgemo
(©1dematgdyemn) 75-309 (Hgtodsndholb dmEnemdno.
3900 - Total Cache 808 GiB, 8000 -dgg IOPS.
bge39Mgo0: 200-dg 3OMEgLbmGYmo dobm30m. 3
(096d30(h0dY 200900 mIghanhogemo dgbbogcgds;

Y 3emabhngneo dobomgoolb 3mEgbobgaobmaznl dgdgbogm
0gdbs HP Nonstop bghgg®o dgdwgan L3gEnazngsEnoom:

® Integrity NonStop NS2300 Server

® 2 xIntel Intel Itanium 9500 series processor
(1.73 GHz/20 MB L3 Cache)

® RAM 32GB;

® 6 x 146GB 15K 2.5in 6G SAS HDDs;

Gravic ShadowBase 3hmagmsdmo 38mnbggmymaol
13O 000, doG0moE LBLYOZgOMLY S bamasdngam
bbgM396MML dmMal bmdEngmegos ¥6y39ho MgdcmnzaEno.

g4m39m039 8dob d90g300, 08630 Jobmyd ma3zal
39090690 d0sbmeo dgho JLondmbm, LEGRO ©
bondgm dmdbobydmgds.

IT

The following projects implemented in 2016 are note-
worthy for the Information Technology Department:

> successfully was completed migration to the new
server systems, launch of the backup system. The
systems are created in line with the international
standards and fully protected from force-major
events;

> the Bank acquired a brand new server and network
equipment and cooling systems. The equipment
meets both the present requirements and those for
the next 5 years. There are duplicates in the main
communications room, while the backup communi-
cations room is the third duplicate.

>  The networking equipment manufactured by Cisco
company and Hewlett-Packard Enterprise server
appliances were acquired. Blades — 12 pcs; virtual
servers — 120.2, disk array of 96 discos, with the
total capacity of about 75 terabit; total Cache 808
GiB, approx. 8000 IOPS; servers of about 200 pro-
cessor cores; total core memory up to 3 terabit.

»  for the purpose of plastic card processing, a HP
Nonstop server of the specifications below was
acquired:

® |ntegrity NonStop NS2300 Server

® 2 x Intel Intel Itanium 9500 series processor
(1.73 GHz/20 MB L3 Cache)

® RAM 32GB;

® 6 x 146GB 15K 2.5in 6G SAS HDDs;

Continuous replication between the main and backup
communication rooms takes place via the Gravic Shad-
owBase fostware.

All those made it possible for the Bank to render its
clients safe, rapid and reliable services.
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CORRESPONDENT BANKS

8M3M®mAL3MBPIBOM 63648d00 SWIFT/BIC 0630003801 6M3IMN/ACCOUNT NO

SOCIETE GENERALE, Paris La Défense SOGEFRPP 002013708320

JSC BANK OF GEORGIA Thilisi GE BAGAGE22 GE92BG0000000755204100
JSC BANK OF GEORGIA Thilisi GE BAGAGE22 GE92BG0000000755204100
AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI A.S, Istanbul, TR CAYTTRIS TR710014300000000002006884
SOCIETE GENERALE, Paris La Défense SOGEFRPP 001013708320

PAO ROSBANK, Moscow, Russia RSBNRUMM 30111978400000020975
LANDESBANK BADEN-WUERTTEMBERG, STUTTGART, GE SOLADEST 2807940

JSC BANK OF GEORGIA Thilisi GE BAGAGE22 GE92BG0000000755204100
ARDSHINBANK CJSC Yerevan ASHBAM?22 2470053460740020

ZAO RAIFFEISENBANK, Moscow RZBMRUMM 30111810200000000002
PAO ROSBANK, Moscow, Russia RSBNRUMM 30111810500000020975

AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI A.S, Istanbul, TR CAYTTRIS TR870014300000000002006887

AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI A.S, Istanbul, TR CAYTTRIS TR440014300000000002006885
ARDSHINBANK CJSC Yerevan, AM ASHBAM?22 2470053460740010

JSC BANK OF GEORGIA Thilisi GE BAGAGE22 GE92BG0000000755204100
PAO ROSBANK, Moscow, Russia RSBNRUMM 30111840800000020975
ARDSHINBANK CJSC Yerevan, AM ASHBAM22 2470053460740000 80M®AaN aduodd ©J 0d3uMm0
JSC BANK OF GEORGIA Thilisi, GE BAGAGE22 GE92BG0000000755204100 GIORG! Il AND TAMAR

00000096 0Aghmds, dgx3gms dga39«. ,08356. 30gb Mghmadob 39x9 O ILMa3dN*.

A silver coin forged in 1178, is no less interesting. The legend on it says: “Giorgi. Let the Almighty bless the king of
kings”. “Tamar. Let the Aimighty bless the king and the queen”.
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BI60®IVIM0 LIG3NLBIGO®N
0. $033030dab 3odd., N39s

CENTRAL SERVICE CENTER
#39a |. Chavchavadze Ave.

30406 LIG3NLBIGOMN
0. 500dodob g., N24

VAKE SERVICE CENTER
#24 |. Abashidze Str.

1Y6IGMO2ML LIG3NLBIGO®N
3930600 g., N140

SABURTALO SERVICE CENTER
#14b Pekini Str.

3006906906 BLIG3NLBIGO®N
3. 303900 J., N1

MTATSMINDA SERVICE CENTER
#1 V. Vekua Str.

L6006 LIG3NLBIGOMN

®™Jd0MBJON/REGIONS

000139306 LIG3NLBIGOMN
3. 3bndmgomazal ., N2
BATUMI SERVICE CENTER
#2 A. Griboedov Str.

33900006006 LIG3NLBIGO®N
8. g3ogmnoadzogal g., N4
KUTAISI SERVIGE CENTER
#4 Z. Paliashvili Str.

4M®0L LIG3NLBIAGO®N
bhogmabob godd., N10

GORI SERVICE CENTER
#10 Stalini Ave.

03306 LIG3NLBIGOMN
0. $033030d0b dmgabo
TELAVI SERVICE CENTER

I. Chavchavadze Sqg.

9909306 gEmaemal 30dd./dmdmemdnl J. N50/18

ISANI SERVICE CENTER
#50/18 Queen Ketevan Ave./Bochorma Str.
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Cartu Bank Group

Statement of Management's Responsibilities for the Preparation and Approval
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the Year Ended December 31, 2016

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that present fairly
the financial position of Joint Stock Company Cartu Bank (the "Bank”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group™”) as at December 31, 2016, the consolidated results of its operations, cash flows and changes
in equity for the year then ended, in compliance with International Financia! Reporting Standards
("IFRS").

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for:

® Properly selecting and applying accounting policies;

» Presenting information, including accounting policies, in @ manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

. Providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the Group’s financial position and financial performance;

. Making an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Management is also respansible for:

. Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and sound system of internal controls
throughout the Group;

. Maintaining adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group,
and which enable them to ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the Group comply
with IFRS;

. Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with Georgian legislation and accounting
standards of Georgia;

. Taking such steps that are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group;
and

. Preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 were authorized for issue
on May 5, 2017 by the Management Board of the Group.

On behalf of the Management Board:

AP Yo

e A B B B o

Natalie-Rhaindrava Givi Lebanidze "~
General Director _ Chief Financial Officer
5 May, 2017 S May, 2017

Thilisi, Georgia Tbilisi, Georgia



] Deloitte 8 Touche LLC
36A Lado Asatiani Street
e °I Tbilisi, 0105,
® Georgia

Tel: +995 (32) 224 45 66
Fax: +995 (32) 224 45 69

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Joint Stock Company Cartu Bank:
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Joint Stock Company Cartu Bank
(the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated
statement of financia! position as at December 31, 2016, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinicn, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2016, and its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“"IFRSs”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the consclidated Financial Statements section of our
report, We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “IESBA
Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in Georgia, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Umited, a UK private company limited by guarantee ("DTTL?), its
network of member firms, and their related entities. DTT). and each of its member firms are legally separate and independent
entities. DTTL (also referred to as “Celoitte Global”) does not provide services to clients. Please see www deloitte.com/fabout for
a more detalled description of OTTL and its member firms.

© 2017 Deloltte & Touche LLC. All rights reserved.



Deloitte.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consoclidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal contrel relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s Internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report, However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

y{/ﬂﬁ \f/‘llk A ,—T(,u,. .:.'ffﬁk

May 5, 2017
Thilist, Georgia



Cartu Bank Group

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

for the Year Ended December 31, 2016
(in thousands of Georgian Lari)

December 31, December 31,
Notes 2016 2015
ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 13 298,616 173,671
Mandatory cash balance with the NBG 14 143,009 76,835
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 16 30,355 38,111
Due from financial institutions 15 6,026 2,192
L.oans to customers 17 854,338 824,618
Available-for-sale investments 18 57 10,017
Held to maturity Investments 19 19,045 18,919
Property and equipment 20 14,555 15,866
Deferred income tax assets 12 249 249
Other assets 21 54,113 32,246
TOTAL ASSETS 1,420,363 1:192,724
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES:
Deposits by banks 22 19,605 55,257
Deposits by customers 23 747,610 597,946
Other borrowed funds 26 124,400 41,911
Other provisions 6 2,266 1,992
Current income tax liability 492 6,255
Other liabilities 24 14,070 13,452
Deferred income tax liability 12 6,548 10,762
Subordinated debt 25 227,179 188,744
Total liabilities 1,142,170 916,319
EQUITY:
Equity attributable to owners of the parent:
Share capital 27 114,430 114,430
Additional paid in capital 9,424 9,424
Available-for-sale reserve = 8,464
Retained earnings 154,422 144,094
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 278,276 276,412
Non-controlling interest (83) (N
Total equity 278,193 276,405
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,420,363 1,192,724

,
On behalf of the Management-foard:

Gétieral Director

5 May, 2017
Tbilisi, Georgia

The notes on pages 10-65 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

7 _PPPPPPE—

Givi Lébanidze
Chief Financial Officer

5 May, 2017
Tbilisi, Georgia



Cartu Bank Group

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
for the Year Ended December 31, 2016
(in thousands of Georgian Lari)

Notes 2016 2015

Continuing operations
Interest income 5 108,902 111,065
Interest expense 5 (38,080) (29,329)
NET INTEREST INCOME BEFORE PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT

LOSSES ON INTEREST BEARING FINANCIAL ASSETS 70,822 81,736
Provision for Impairment losses on interest bearing assets 6 {230) (32,912)
NET INTEREST INCOME 70,592 48,824
Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 15,023 32,841
Net gain on foreign exchange operations 8 8,810 5,645
Fee and commission income 9 7,409 6,805
Fee and commission expense 9 (4,638) (3,992)
Provision for other operations 6 (274) (1,257)
Other income, net 10 11,397 9,791
NET NON-INTEREST INCOME 41,727 49,833
OPERATING INCOME 112,319 98,657
OPERATING EXPENSES 11 (29,313) (29,849}
PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 83,006 68,808
Income tax expense 12 (7,754) (9,867)
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 75,252 58,941
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 75,482 58,940
Non-controlling_interest (230} 1

75,252 58,941
On behalf of the Managemenk'Board:
-~
J L PPPI2P7

5 May, 2017
Tbilisi, Georgia

Givi Lebanidze” &
Chief Financial Officer

5 May, 2017
Thilisi, Georgia

The notes on pages 10-65 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Cartu Bank Group

Consolidated Statement of other Comprehensive Income
for the Year Ended December 31, 2016 (continued)
(in thousands of Georgian Lari)

Notes 2016 2015
Net profit for the year 75,252 58,941
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss:
Net gain resulting on revaluation of available-for-sale investments
during the year 542 3,408
Transferred to profit for the year (10,500) (1,832)
Income tax 12 1,494 {236)
Other comprehensive income after income tax (8,464) 1,340
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 67,018 60,280
Non-controlling interest (230) 1
66,788 60,281
?-?
. B il
Givi Lebanidze & & 7 o
eneral Directo Chief Financial Officer
S May, 2017 5 May, 2017
Thilisi, Georgia Thilisi, Georgia

The notes on pages 10-65 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Cartu Bank Group

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
for the Year Ended December 31, 2016
(in thousands of Georgian Lari)

Total equity
Additional Available attributable Non-con-
Share paidin for-sale Retained to ownersof trolling Total
Notes capital capital reserve earnings _the parent _ interest Equity
January 1, 2015 114,430 9,424 7,124 151,154 282,132 {(8) 282,124
Profit for the period - - - 58,940 58,940 1 58,941
Other comprehensive
incormne for the year,
net of income tax - - 1,340 - 1,340 - 1,340
Dividends disbursed - = - (66,000) {66,000) - {(66,000)
December 31, 2015 114,430 9,424 8,464 144,094 276,412 {7) 276,405
Profit for the period - - - 75,482 75,482 (230) 75,252
Decrease in non-
controlling interest
from acquisition of
interast in Cartu
Insurance JSC e S s (154) (154) 154 -
Other comprehensive
income for the year,
net of income tax - - (8,464) - (8,464) - (8,464)
Dividends disbursed - - - {65,000) {65,000) - (65,000)
December 31, 2016 114,430 9,424 - 154,422 278,276 {83) 278,193

On behalf of the Managem Board:

Gefieral Director Chief Financial Officer
S May, 2017 S May, 2017
Tbilisi, Georgia Tbilisi, Georgia

The notes on pages 10-65 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

-7 %
Givi Lebanidze i o



Cartu Bank Group

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the Year Ended December 31, 2016
{in thousands of Georgian Lari)

2016 2015
CASH FLLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Profit before income tax: 83,006 68,808
Adjustments for:
Provision for Impairment losses on interest bearing assets 230 32,912
Provision for other operations 274 1,217
Net gain on foreign exchange operations (2,812) 2,770
Depreciation and amortization expense 2,536 1,848
Gain from disposal of interest in subsidiary - (4,778)
Gain on sale of available-for-sale investments (10,500) (1,832)
Change in interest accruals, net (25,091) {1,991)
Gain on disposal of repossessed assets and property and
equipment (1,006) (692)
Net gain on operations with financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss {19,023) {21,785)
Cash inflow from operating activities before changes in
operating assets and liabilities 27,614 76,477
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
Mandatory cash balance with the NBG (62,729) (30,635)
Due from financial Institutions (3,684) 2,785
Loans to customers 20,956 (253,836)
Other assets 1,346 2,880
increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Deposits by banks (36,321} 52,831
Deposits by customers 144,352 251,203
Other liabilities 518 2,717
Cash inflow from operating activities before taxation 92,052 104,422
Income tax paid (16,238) (4,651)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 75,814 99,771
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Payments for property and equipment, and intangible assets (2,306) {6,990)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment and
intangible assets 598 162
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale investments 10,500 1,832
Proceed from sale of interest in subsidiary - 8,428
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 21,276 -
Proceeds from disposal of repossessed assets 2,801 2,424
Purchase of repossessed assets {24,426} (23)
Purchase of held to maturity investments {18,576} (18,456)
Proceeds from disposal of held to maturity investments 18,276 10,899
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from Investing activities 8,143 (1,724)




Cartu Bank Group

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the Year Ended December 31, 2016 {continued)
(in thousands of Georgian Lari)

2016 2015
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from other borrowed funds 124,400 41,911
Repayment of other borrowed funds {41,911) (5,311)
Payment of dividends (65,000) (66,000)
Proceeds from subordinated debt 18,537 26,956
Repayment of subordinated debt = {9,323)
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from financing activities 36,026 (11,767)

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in
foreign currencies 4,962 3,755
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 119,983 90,035
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of the year 173,671 83,636
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of the year 298,616 173,671

Interest paid and received by the Group during the year ended December 31, 2016 amounted to GEL 37,897

thousands and GEL 102,894 thousands, respectively.

Interest paid and received by the Group during the year ended December 31, 2015 amounted to GEL 23,144

thousands and GEL 115,425 thousands, respectively.

On behalf of the Managem Board:

-7

ZZ.

General Director Chief Financial Officer

5 May, 2017 5 May, 2017
Tbilisi, Georgta Thbilisi, Georgia

The notes on pages 10-65 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cartu Bank Group

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the Year Ended December 31, 2016
(in thousands of Georgian Lari)

1. Organisation

Joint Stock Company Cartu Bank (the "Bank”) was incorporated in Georgia in 1996. The Bank is
regulated by the National Bank of Georgia (the "NBG") and conducts its business under general
license number 229. The Bank’'s primary business consists of commercial activities, originating
loans and guarantees, trading with securities, foreign currencies and taking deposits.

The registered office of the Bank is located on 39a Chavchavadze Avenue, Thilisi, Georgia.

As at December 31, 2016 the Bank had five service centers operating in Thilisi, and service
centers in Gori, Telavi, Sachkhere Kutaisi and Batumi regions.

The Bank is a parent company of a group (the “Group”), which consists of the following entities
consolidated in the financial statements:

Ownership interest (%)

Name Country of 2016 2015 Type of operation
operation

Brokerage Company "Cartu Broker” LLC Georgia 100.00% 100.00% Brokerage

"Insurance Company Cartu” LLC Georgia 88.45% 82.27% Insurance

On December 30, 2016 the Bank has made an investment in the amount of GEL 2,500 thousand
to acquire an additional 6.18% share in Insurance Company Cartu LLC.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 1SC Cartu Group owned 100% of the Bank's shares.

Ultimate individual shareholder having control over the operation of JSC Cartu Group is Uta
Ivanishvili,

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue on May 5, 2017 by the
Management Board of the Group.

10



Cartu Bank Group

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the Year Ended December 31, 2016 (continued)
(in thousands of Georgian Lari)

2. Significant accounting policies

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Georgian Lari ("GEL
thousand”), unless otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for
the measurement at fair value of certain financial instruments, as explained in the accounting
policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability,

The Bank and its consolidated companies are registered in Georgia and maintain their accounting
records in accordance with the Georgian law. These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared from the statutory accounting records and have been adjusted to conform to IFRS.

The Group presents its consolidated statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity. An
analysis regarding recovery or settlement within 12 months after the consolidated statement of
financial position date (current) and more than 12 manths after the consolidated statement of
financial position date (non-current} is presented in Note 33.

Functional currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of each of the Group's entities are
measured using the currency of the primary of the economic environment in which the entity
operates (“the functional currency”). The functional currency of the parent of the Group is the
Georgian Lari ("GEL"). The presentational currency of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is the GEL. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand GEL, except when otherwise
indicated.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and
settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expense is not offset in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, and as
specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Group.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

11



Cartu Bank Group

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the Year Ended December 31, 2016 (continued)
{in thousands of Georgian Lari)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and
entities controlled by the Bank and its subsidiaries, Control is achieved when the Bank:

. has power over the investee;
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its invelvement with the investee; and
. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Bank reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Bank has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Bank considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether or not the Bank's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

. the size of the Bank's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings
of the other vote holders;

. potential voting rights held by the Bank, other vote holders or other parties;
. rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

. any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Bank has, or does not have,
the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders' meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Bank obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Bank loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss from the date the Bank gains control until the date when the Bank ceases to control
the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the consolidated financial staterments of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
and net assets of subsidiaries not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Group.

Non-controlling interests are presented separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and consolidated statement of other comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated
statement of financial position, separately from parent shareholders’ equity.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
contro! over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interests and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controliing interest are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Group.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss and Is

calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration

received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the

assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. All

amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
12



Cartu Bank Group

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the Year Ended December 31, 2016 (continued)
(in thousands of Georgian Lari)

accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under International Accounting Standard (“IAS") 39, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture,

Revenue recognition
Recognition of interest income and expense

Interest income from a financial asset is recognized when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably.

Interest income and expense are recognized on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial
asset or a financial liability (or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the
interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
{including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or {where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down (partly written
down) as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is thereafter recognized using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

Recognition of fee and commission income

Loan origination fees are deferred, together with the related direct costs, and recognized as

an adjustment to the effective interest rate of the loan. Where it is probable that a loan
commitment will lead to a specific lending arrangement, the loan commitment fees are deferred,
together with the related direct costs, and recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest
rate of the resulting loan. Where it is unlikely that a loan commitment will lead to a specific
lending arrangement, the loan commitment fees are recognized in profit or loss over the
remaining period of the loan commitment. Where a loan commitment expires without resulting in a
loan, the loan commitment fee is recognized in profit or loss on expiry. Loan servicing fees are
recognized as revenue as the services are provided. Loan syndication fees are recognized in profit
or loss when the syndication has been completed.

All other commissions are recognized when services are provided.
Recognition of rental income

The Group's policy for recognition of income as a lessor is set out in the "Leases” section of this
footnote.

Financial instruments

‘The Group recognizes financial assets and liabilities in its consolidated statement of financial
position when it becomes a party to the contractual obligations of the instrument. Reguiar way
purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities are recognized using settlement date
accounting. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities(other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

13



Cartu Bank Group

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the Year Ended December 31, 2016 (continued)
(in thousands of Georgian Lari)

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value
through profit or loss’ (*"FVTPL"), *held to maturity’ (*"HTM") investments, ‘available-for-sale’
("AFS") financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is
designated as at FVTPL.

. A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
° It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

. On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if:

. Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

. The financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with
the Group's documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about
the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

. It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement perrnits the entire combined contract
{asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on
remeasurement recognized in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss
incorporates any dividend and interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the ‘other
gains and losses’ and ‘interest income’ line item, respectively, in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Investments held to maturity

Investments held to maturity are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity dates that the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to
maturity. Investments held to maturity are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less any impairment.

If the Group were to sell or reclassify more than an insignificant amount of investments held to
maturity before maturity (other than in certain specific circumstances), the entire category would
be tainted and would have to be reclassified as available-for-sale. Furthermore, the Group would
be prohibited from classifying any financial asset as held to maturity during the current financial
year and following two financial years.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available-for-
sale or are not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (2) held to maturity investments or (c)
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Listed shares held by the Group that are traded in an active market are classified as AFS and are
stated at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes Iin fair value are recognized in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve, with the
exception of other-than-temporary impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective
interest method, dividend income and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets,
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Cartu Bank Group

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the Year Ended December 31, 2016 (continued)
(in thousands of Georgian Lari)

which are recognized in profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

The fair value of AFS monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. The foreign
exchange gains and losses that are recognized in profit or loss are determined based on the
amortised cost of the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in
other comprehensive income.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses
at the end of each reporting period.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables (including due from financial institutions, loans to customers and other
financial assets) that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognized by
applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest
would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated
future cash fiows of the investment have been affected.

For unlisted equity investments classified as AFS, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the security below its cost would be considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

. Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

. Breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

) Default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

. It becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or
. Disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as loans and receivables, assets that are assessed
not to be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of loans and receivables could include the
Group's past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments
in the portfolio, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognized is
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.
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Cartu Bank Group

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all
financial assets with the exception of loans and receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account, When a loan or a receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognized in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, if, in a subsequent perioed, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognized.

Renegotiated loans

Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral.
This may involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan
conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated any impairment is measured using the
original effective interest rate as calculated before the modification of terms and the loan is no
longer considered past due. Management continually reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all
criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur. The loans continue to be subject to an
individual or collective impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s original effective interest
rate.

Write off of loans and receivables

Loans and advances are written off against the allowance for impairment losses when deemed
uncollectible. Loans and advances are written off after management has exercised all possibilities
available to collect amounts due to the Group. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are reflected as an offset to the charge for impairment of financial assets in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period of recovery.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognize the financial asset
and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain of loss
that had been recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognized
in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an
option to repurchase part of a transferred asset), the Group allocates the previous carrying
amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognize under continuing
involvement, and the part it no longer recognizes on the basis of the relative fair values of those
parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the
part that is no longer recognized and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer
recognized and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognized in other
comprehensive income is recognized in profit or loss. A cumuiative gain or loss that had been
recognized in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to be
recognized and the part that is no longer recognized on the basis of the relative fair values of
those parts.
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Embedded derivatives

An embedded derivative is part of a financial instrument that also includes a non-derivative host
contract. The embedded derivative requires that some portion of the contract's cash flows be
modified in relation to changes in a variable, such as:

. its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument
price, commeodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or
credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the
variable is not specific to a party to the contract;

o it requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be
required for other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to
changes in market factors; and

. it is settled at a future date.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when
they meet the definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

The Group does not apply hedge accounting.
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognized at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Compound instruments

The components parts of compound instruments Issued by the Group are classified separately as
financial liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual agreement. At
the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using prevailing market
interest rate for a similar non-convertible instrument. This amount is recorded as a liability on an
amartized cost basis using the effective interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at
the instrument's maturity date.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities *at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial
liabilities’.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either held for trading or
it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading If;

. It has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

. On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of shori-term profit-taking; or

. It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
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A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

° Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

* The financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or
both, which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group's documented risk management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

. It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract
{asset or liability} to be designated as at FVTPL.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into offsetting deposits with its counterparty banks to exchange currencies.
Such deposits, while legally separate, are aggregated and accounted for as a single derivative
financial instrument (currency swap) on a net basis where (i) the deposits are entered into at the
same time and in contemplation of one another, (ii} they have the same counterparty, (iii) they
relate to the same risk and (iv) there is no apparent business purpose for structuring the
transactions separately that could not also have been accomplished in a single transaction.
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.

All derivative instruments are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when
fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are included in profit or
loss as gains/(losses) on derivative financial instruments or as gain/(losses} from foreign
currencies operations, depending on the nature of the instrument.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including deposits by banks, deposits by customers, borrowed funds,
subordinated debt and other financial liabilities) are initially measured at fair value, net of
transaction costs.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, with interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and peints paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate)
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially measured at their fair values and ,
are subsequently measured at the higher of:

. The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets ; and

® The amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, cumulative amaortization recognized
in accordance with the revenue recognition policies.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in
profit and loss.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All cther leases are classified as operating
leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the |leased asset and recognized on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recagnized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating
leases are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are

recognized as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, unrestricted balances on corresponded and
term deposits with the National Bank of Georgia with original maturity of less or equal to 90 days
and amounts due from financial institutions with original maturity of less or equal to 90 days and
are free from contractual encumbrances.

Minimum reserve deposits with the National Bank of Georgia

Mandatory cash balances with the National Bank of Georgia represent mandatory reserve
deposits, which are not available to finance the Group’s day-to-day operations and hence are not
considered as part of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows.

Repossessed assets

In certain circumstances, assets are repossessed following the foreclosure on loans that are in
default. The Group views the repossessed assets as a form of settlement of amounts due under
the defaulted ioan and that it is an asset acquired and held for sale in the ordinary course of
business.

Repossessed assets are initially recognized at fair value and subsequent measured at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Property and equipment

Initial cost of property and equipment is assessed based on actual expenses for their acquisition
that comprise purchase price, including non-refundable purchase taxes and any directly attributed
costs of bringing the assets to its working condition and location for intended use. Subsequent to
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initial recognition property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than freehold
land and construction in progress) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis at the following annual rates:

Buildings and other real estate 2%-3%
Furniture and office fixtures 10%-20%
Computer and office equipment 10%-33%
Other 5%-20%
Intangible assets 10%

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the life of the related leased asset. Expenses related
to repairs and renewals are charged when incurred and included in operating expenses unless
they qualify for capitalization.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is recognized on

a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are
expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrving amount of the
asset, are recognized in profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the asset is
derecognized.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are
tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may
be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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If the recoverable amount of an asset {or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset {or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount, An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase,

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consclidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
{other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, property and equipment, loans to customers and
provisions, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future, Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with other assets and liabilities are
only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting pericd.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would

follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or |loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current
and deferred tax are also recegnized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

In May 2016, the parliament of Georgia approved a change in the current corporate taxation
model, with changes applicable on 1 January 2019 for all entities apart from certain financial
institutions. The ¢changed model implies zero corporate tax rate on retained earnings and a 15%
corporate tax rate on disbursed earnings, compared to previous model of 15% tax rate charged
to the company’s profit before tax, regardless of the retention or distribution status. The change
has had an immediate impact on deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances attributable
to previously recognised temporary differences arising from prior periods.

Operating taxes

Georgia also has various other taxes, which are assessed on the Group’s activities. These taxes
are included as a component of operating expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation {legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be
recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position but are
disclosed unless the possibility of any outflow in settlement is remote. A contingent asset is not
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position but disclosed when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group, transactions in currencies other
than the Group's functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the rates prevalling at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not translated.

The exchange rates used by the Group in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
as at year-end are as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
GEL/1 US Dollar 2.6468 2.3949
GEL/1 Euro 2.7940 2.6169
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Collateral

The Group obtains collateral in respect of customer liabilities where it is considered appropriate.
The collateral normally takes the form of a lien over the customer’s assets and gives the Group a
claim on these assets for both existing and future customer liabilities.

Equity reserves

The reserves recorded in equity on the Group's consolidated statement of financial position
include Available-for-sale reserve which comprises changes in fair value of available-for-sale
financial assets.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation
uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, the Group
management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those Involving estimations (see below), that
the management has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial
statements.

Financial assets held to maturity

The Group management has reviewed the Group’s held-to-maturity financial assets in the light of
its capital maintenance and liquidity requirements and has confirmed the Group’s positive
intention and ability to hold those assets to maturity. As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 the
carrying amounts of the financial assets held to maturity are GEL 19,045 and GEL 18,919,
respectively. Details of these assets are set out in Note 19.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

‘The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of loans and receivables

The Group regularly reviews its loans and receivables to assess for impairment. The Group’s loan
impairment provisions are established to recognize incurred impairment losses in its portfolio of
loans and receivables. The Group considers accounting estimates related to allowance for
impairment of loans and receivables a key source of estimation uncertainty because (i) they are
highly susceptible to change from period to period as the assumptions about future default rates
and valuation of potential losses relating to impaired loans and receivables are based on recent
performance experience, and (ii) any significant difference between the Group’s estimated losses
and actual losses would require the Group to record provisions which could have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements in future periods.

The Group uses management’s judgment to estimate the amount of any impairment loss in cases
where a borrower has financial difficulties and there are few available sources of historical data
relating to similar borrowers. Similarly, the Group estimates changes in future cash flows based
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on past performance, past customer behavior, observable data indicating an adverse change in
the payment status of borrowers in a group, and national or local economic conditions that
correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment
similar to those in the group of loans. The Group uses management’'s judgment to adjust
observable data for a group of loans to reflect current circumstances not reflected in historical
data.

The allowances for impairment of financial assets in the consolidated financial statements have
been determined on the basis of existing economic and political conditions. The Group is not in a
position to predict what changes in conditions will take place in Georgia and what effect such
changes might have on the adequacy of the allowances for impairment of financial assets in
future periods.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 the gross loans to customers totaled GEL 937,005 and GEL
891,784, respectively, and allowance for impairment losses amounted to GEL 82,667 and GEL
67,166, respectively.

Valuation of financial instruments

As described in Note 30, the Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of certain types of financial
instruments. Note 30 provides detailed information about the key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of financial instruments, as well as the detailed sensitivity analysis
for these assumptions. The directors believe that the chosen valuation techniques and
assumptions used are appropriate in determining the fair value of financial instruments.

Useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets

As described above, the Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property and equipment and
intangible assets at the end of each annual reporting period. In determining the useful life of an
asset, the management considers expected usage, estimated technical obsolescence, physical wear
and tear, and the physical environment in which the asset is operated. Changes in any of these
conditions or estimates may result in adjustments to future depreciation/amortisation rates. During
the financial year, the Group management has not changed useful lives of its property and
equipment and intangible assets.

Recoverability of deferred tax assets.

According to changes in Georgian Tax Code from January 1 2019 banks are obliged to pay income
tax based on dividend disbursed. Consequently, there is an expectation that temporary differences
will disappear beginning from that effective date. The management of the Group is confident that
the valuation allowance against deferred tax liability at the reporting date is necessary, because it is
more likely that the deferred tax liability will be not fully realized till January 1, 2019. Consequently,
the valuation allowance in the amount of GEL 4,743 thousands is recorded as at December 31,
2016, The carrying value of deferred tax liabilities amounted to GEL 6,548 thousand and GEL
10,762 thousand as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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4.

Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs)

Amendments to IFRSs affecting amounts reported in the consolidated financial
statements. In the current year, the following new and revised Standards and Interpretations
have been adopted and have affected the amounts reported in these consolidated financial
statements.

] Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception;

. Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations;
. Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative;

. Amendments to 1AS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amaortisation;

. Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants;

. IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts;

. Amendments to 1AS 27 - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements;
. Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments
clarify that an entity need not provide a specific disclosure required by an IFRS if the information
resulting from that disclosure is not material, and give guidance on the bases of aggregating and
disaggregating information for disclosure purposes. However, the amendments reiterate that a
group should consider providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific
requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users of consolidated financial statements to
understand the impact of particular transactions, events and conditions on the Group's financial
position and financial performance.

The application of these amendments has not resulted in any impact on the financial performance
or financial position of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments
to IAS 16 prohibit entities from using a revenue-based depreciation method for items of property,
plant and equipment. The amendments to IAS 38 introduce & rebuttable presumption that
revenue is not an appropriate basis for amortisation of an intangible asset. This presumption can
only be rebutted in the following two limited circumstances:

a. when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue; or

b. when it can be demonstrated that revenue and consumption of the economic benefits of the
intangible asset are highly correlated.

As the Group already uses the straight-line method for depreciation and amortisation for its
property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets respectively, the application of these
amendments has had no impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs - 2012-2014 Cycle

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle include a number of amendments to various IFRSs,
which are summarised below,

The amendments to IFRS 5 introduce specific guidance in IFRS 5 for when an entity reclassifies
an asset (or disposal group) from held for sale to held for distribution to owners {or vice versa).
The amendments clarify that such a change should be considered as a continuation of the original
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plan of disposal and hence requirements set out in IFRS 5 regarding the change of sale plan do
not apply. The amendments also clarifies the guidance for when held-for-distribution accounting
is discontinued.

The amendments to IFRS 7 provide additional guidance to clarify whether a servicing contract is
continuing involvement in a transferred asset for the purpose of the disclosures required in
relation to transferred assets.

The amendments to IAS 19 clarify that the rate used to discount post-employment benefit
obligations should be determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period
on high quality corporate bonds. The assessment of the depth of a market for high quality
corporate bonds should be at the currency level (i.e. the same currency as the benefits are to be
paid). For currencies for which there is no deep market in such high quality corporate bonds, the
market ylelds at the end of the reporting period on government bonds denominated in that
currency should be used instead.

The application of these amendments has had no effect on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective.

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments?;
. IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (and the related Clarifications)?;
. IFRS 16 Leases®

. Amendments to IFRS 2 - Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions?;

. Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture?,

. Amendments to IAS 7 - Disclosure Initiative!;
. Amendments to IAS 12 - Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses?;

. Amendments to IFRS 4 - Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts?;

. IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration?;
. Amendments to IAS 40 - Transfers of Investment Property?;
. Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle.

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with earlier application
permitted.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier application
permitted.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier application
permitted.

4 Effactive for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. Earlier application is
permitted.

I1ERS 9 Financial Instruments. IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in
October 2010 to include requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities
and for derecognition, and in November 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge
accounting. In July 2014 IASB issued a finalised version of IFRS 9 mainly introducing impairment
requirements for financial assets and limited amendments to the classification and measurement
requirements by introducing a fair value through other comprehensive income’ {FVTOCI)
measurement category for certain simple debt instruments. IFRS 9 is aiming at replacing IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
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The key requirements of IFRS 9 are:

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities. Financial assets are classified by
reference to the business model within which they are held and their contractual cash flow
characteristics. Specifically, debt instruments that are held within the business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost after initial recognition. The 2014 version of IFRS 9 introduces a
'fair value through other comprehensive income' category for debt instruments held within
the business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms of the financial asset giving rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding which are measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income after initial recognition. All other debt and equity investments are measured at their
fair values. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in
other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally recognized in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities are classified in a similar manner to under IAS 39, however there are
differences in the requirements applying to the measurement of an entity’s own credit risk.
IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable te changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in OCI
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value
attributable to a financial liability's credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or
loss.

Impairment. The 2014 version of IFRS 9 introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ model for the
measurement of the impairment of financial assets, as opposed to an incurred credit loss
maodel under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a
credit event to have occurred before a credit loss is recognized.

Hedge accounting. The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types
of hedge accounting mechanisms currently available in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater
flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting,
specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the
types of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In
addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an
‘economic relationship’. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer
required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management activities
have also been introduced.

Derecognition. The requirements for the derecognition of financial assets and liabilities are
carried forward from IAS 39,

The standard is effective from 1 January 2018 with early application permitted. Depending on the
chosen approach to applying IFRS 9, the transition can involve one or more than one date of
initial application for different requirements.

The management of the Group anticipates that the application of IFRS 9 in the future may have a
significant impact on amounts reported in respect of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 9
until 2 detailed review has been completed.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. In May 2014, IFRS 15 was issued which
establishes a single comprehensive model| for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising
from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations when it
becomes effective.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
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the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. Specifically, the
standard provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with
customers.

The five steps in the model are as follows:

. Identify the contract with the customer;

. Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

. Determine the transaction price;

. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts;
. Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognizes revenue when or as a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e.
when ‘contro!’ of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added on topics such as the
point in which revenue is recognized, accounting for variable consideration, costs of fulfilling and
obtaining a contract and various related matters. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required
by IFRS 15

The management of the Group anticipates that the application of IFRS 15 in the future may have a
significant impact on the amount and timing of revenue recognition. However, it is not practicable
to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 15 until a detailed review has been
completed.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and
accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease
guidance including IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is
controlled by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases (off balance sheet) and finance leases
(on balance sheet) are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees (i.e. all
on balance sheet) except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to
certain exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted
for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease medifications, amongst others.
Furthermore, the classification of cash flows will also be affected as operating lease payments
under IAS 17 are presented as operating cash flows; whereas under the IFRS 16 model, the lease
payments will be split into a principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing
and operating cash flows respectively.

In contrast to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in IAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an
operating lease or a finance lease,

Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions

The amendments clarify the following:

1. In estimating the fair value of a cash-settled share-based payment, the accounting for the
effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions should follow the same approach as for equity-
settled share-based payments.

2. Where tax law or regulation requires an entity to withhold a specified number of equity

instruments equal to the monetary value of the employee’s tax obligation to meet the employee’s

tax liability which is then remitted to the tax authority, i.e. the share-based payment

arrangement has a ‘net settlement feature’, such an arrangement should be classified as equity-
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settled in its entirety, provided that the share-based payment would have been classified as
equity-settled had it not included the net settlement feature.

3. A modification of a share-based payment that changes the transaction from cash-settled to
equity-settled should be accounted for as follows:

a. the original liability is derecognised;

b. the equity-settled share-based payment is recognised at the modification date fair value
of the equity instrument granted to the extent that services have been rendered up to
the modification date; and

c. any difference between the carrying amount of the liability at the modification date and
the amount recognised in equity should be recognised in profit or loss immediately.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
with earlier application permitted. Specific transition provisions apply.

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the
future will have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements as the
Group does not have any cash-settled share-based payment arrangements or any withholding tax
arrangements with tax authorities in relation to share-based payments.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 deal with situations where there is a sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the amendments
state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a
business in a transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method, are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from
the remeasurement of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has become an
associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair value are
recognised in the former parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The effective date of the amendments has yet to be set by the IASB; however, earlier application
of the amendments is permitted.

The management of the Group anticipates that the application of these amendments may have an
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements in future periods should such
transactions arise.

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.

The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
with earlier application permitted.

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the application of these amendments will
have a material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
The amendments clarify the following:

1. Decreases below cost in the carrying amount of a fixed-rate debt instrument measured at fair
value for which the tax base remains at cost give rise to a deductible temporary difference,
irrespective of whether the debt instrument’s holder expects to recover the carrying amount of
the debt instrument by sale or by use, or whether it is probable that the issuer will pay all the
contractual cash flows;
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2. When an entity assesses whether taxable profits will be available against which it can utilise a
deductible temporary difference, and the tax law restricts the utilisation of losses to deduction
against income of a specific type {e.g. capital losses can only be set off against capital gains), an
entity assesses a deductible temporary difference in combination with other deductible temporary
differences of that type, but separately from other types of deductible temporary differences;

3. The estimate of probable future taxable profit may include the recovery of some of an entity’s
assets for more than their carrying amount if there is sufficient evidence that it is probable that
the entity will achieve this; and

4. In evaluating whether sufficient future taxable profits are available, an entity should compare
the deductible temporary differences with future taxable profits excluding tax deductions resulting
from the reversal of those deductible temporary differences.

The amendments apply retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
with earlier application permitted. The management of the Group does nat anticipate that the
application of these amendments will have a material impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts

The amendments provide entities meeting a criterion for engaging in predominantly insurance
activities with the option to continue current IFRS accounting and to defer the application of
IFRS 9 until the earlier of the application of the new insurance Standard or periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2021 (the “sunset clause”). The assessment of predominance has to be made
at the reporting entity level and at the annual reporting date immediately preceding 1 April 2016,
Thereafter it should not be reassessed, unless there is a significant change in the entity’s
activities that would trigger a mandatory reassessment. An entity shall apply those amendments,
which permit insurers that meet specified criteria to apply a temporary exemption from IFRS 9,
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

Separately, the amendments provide all entities with contracts within the scope of IFRS 4 with an
option to apply IFRS 9 in full but to make adjustments to profit or loss to remove the impact of
IFRS 9, compared with 1AS 39, for designated qualifying financial assets. This is referred to as the
‘averlay approach’ and is available on an asset-by asset basis with specific requirements around
designations and de-designations. An entity shall apply those amendments, which permit insurers
to apply the overlay approach to designated financial assets, when it first applies IFRS 9.

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the application of these amendments will
have a material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements as the insurance
company comprises immaterial part of the whole Group.

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The Interpretation clarifies that when an entity pays or receives consideration in advance in a
foreign currency, the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to
use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income Is the date of the advance
consideration, i.e, when the prepayment or liability in respect of the income received in advance
was recognised. If there is more than one advance payment or receipt the date of the transaction
for each payment of receipt of advance consideration should be determined. The amendments
apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier application permitted.
Entities may elect to apply amendments either retrospectively or prospectively.

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the application of these amendments will
have a material impact on the Group's financial statements as the Group currently uses the
approach prescribed in IFRIC 22.

Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

The amendments are intended to clarify that an entity can only reclassify a property to/ from
investment property when, and only when, there is evidence that a change in the use of the
property has occurred. The amendments emphasise that a change in management’s intentions
alone would not be enough to support a transfer of property. The standard has a list of
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circumstances that evidence a change in use, which is perceived by some as being exhaustive,
the amendments make it clear that they are only examples. The amendments apply to annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier application permitted. Entities may elect
to apply them either retrospectively (if it is possible without the use of hindsight) or
prospectively.

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the application of these amendments will
have a material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle
This annual improvements package amended three standards:

The Amendments to IFRS 1 delete the short-term exemptions that related to disclosures about
financial instruments, employee benefits and investment entities as the reporting period to which
the exemptions applied have already passed and as such, these exemptions are no longer
applicable. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018,

The amendments to IFRS 12 clarify that concession from the requirement to provide summarised
financial information in respect of interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures classified

as held for sale or included in a disposal group is the only concession available for such interests.
The amendments apply retrospectively and are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.

In accordance with IAS 28, a venture capital organisation and other similar entities may elect to
measure investments in associates and joint ventures at FVTPL, In addition, an entity that is not
an investment entity but has an interest in an associate or joint venture that is an investment
entity, may, when applying the equity method, elect to retain the fair value measurement applied
by that associate or joint venture to its own interests in subsidiaries. Amendments to IAS 28
clarify that such election should be made separately for each associate or joint venture at initial
recognition. The amendments apply retrospectively and are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2018. Early application is permitted.

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the application of these amendments will
have a material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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5.

Net interest income

2016 2015
Interest income comprises:
Financial assets recorded at amortized cost:
Impaired financial assets 102,039 104,518
Unimpaired financial assets 6,863 6,547
Total interest income 108,902 111,065
Interest income on financial assets recorded at amortized cost
comprises:
Loans to customers 102,039 104,518
Due from financial institutions 5,328 5,495
Held to maturity Investments 1,535 1,052
Total interast income on financial assets recorded at amortized cost 108,902 111,065
Interest expense comprises:
Interest on financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost (38,080} (29,329)
Total interest expense {38,080) {(29,329)
Interast expense on financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost
comprise;
Deposits by customers (24,480) (17,147)
Subordinated debt (11,568) (10,688)
Deposits by banks (1,451} (1,217)
Other borrowed funds {581) 277
Total interest expense on financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost (38,080) (29,329)
Net interest income before provision for impairment losses on
interest bearing financial assets 70,822 81,736

Provision for impairment losses on interest bearing assets and other

provisions

The movements in allowance for impairment losses on interest bearing assets were as follows:

Loans to
customers
January 1, 2015 31,359
Additlonal provisions recognized 32,912
Write-off of assets (1,130)
Recovery of assets previously written off 4,025
December 31, 2015 67,166
Additional provisions recognized 230
Write-off of assets (776)
Recovery of assets previously written off 16,047
December 31, 2016 82,667
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The movements in allowance for impairment on other assets and other provisions were as

follows:
Other Provision for
Repossessed financial Other other
assets provisions operations
January 1, 2015 - a3 702 735
{Recovery of provisions)/additional
provisions recognized - (33) 1,290 1,257
December 31, 2015 - - 1,992 1,992
Additional provisions/(recovery of
provisions) recognized 736 - (462) 274
December 31, 2016 736 - 1,530 2,266
Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprises:
2016 2015
Net gain on operations with financial assets initially recognized at fair
value through profit and loss comprise:
Unrealized gain on trading operations 41,630 79,829
Realized gain on embedded derivative instrument 5,503 16,594
Unrealized gain on embedded derivative instrument 4,228 24,019
Unrealized loss on trading operations (32,338) (87,601)
Total net gain on operations with financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 19,023 32,841
Net gain on foreign exchange operations
Net gain on foreign exchange operations comprises:
2016 2015
Dealing, net 5,998 8,415
Translation differences, net 2,812 (2,770)
Total net gain on foreign exchange operations 8,810 5,645
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9. Fee and commission income and expense
Fee and commission income and expense comprise:
2016 2015
Fee and commission income:
Plastic cards operations 3,383 3,096
Documentary operations 2,328 1,944
Settlements 1,194 1,214
Cash operations 434 366
Letter of credit 26 120
Other 44 65
Total fee and commission income 7,409 6,805
Fee and commission expense:
Plastic cards services (3,752) (3,253)
Settlements (576) (400)
Documentary operations {205) (120)
Letter of credit (23) (168)
Other {82) (51)
Total fee and commission expense {4,638) {3,992)
10. Other income, net
Other income / (expense) comprises:
2016 2015
Net written premiums 10,925 5,848
Gain from disposal of available-for-sale Investment 10,500 1,832
Gain on disposal of property and repossessed assets 1,013 692
Change In provisions for reported but not settled claims 374 236
Fines and penalties received 31 736
Gain from disposal of interest in subsidiary = 4,778
Claims settled, net of reinsurance (5,713) (5,229}
Reinsurers' share of claims settled (4,199) (3,737)
Change in provisions for incurred but not reported claims (1,991) (486)
Other 457 1,121
Total other income, net 11,397 9,791
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11.

12.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses comprise:

2016 2015
Staff costs 10,365 10,025
Charity and sponsorship 7,760 9,750
Depreclation and amortization 2,537 1,848
Operating leases 2,155 2,075
Communication expenses 2,101 1,616
Security expenses 533 553
Professional services 370 436
Representative expenses 250 159
Utilities 242 231
Taxes, other than income tax 214 232
Postal expenses 187 256
Property and equipment maintenance 144 127
Advertising expenses 126 253
Business trip expenses 65 34
Training 64 53
Other expenses 2,200 2,201
Total operating expenses 29,313 29,849

Income taxes

The Group provides for income taxes based on the tax accounts maintained and prepared in
accordance with the tax regulations of Georgia, which differs from IFRS.

The Group is subject to certain permanent tax differences due to the non-tax deductibility of
certain expenses and a tax free regime for certain income.

Deferred taxes refiect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes.

Temporary differences mostly relate to different methods of income and expense recognition as
well as to recorded values of certain assets and liabilities.

The tax rate used for the reconciliations below is the corporate tax rate of 15% payable by
corporate entities in Georgia on taxable profits under tax law in that jurisdiction.

Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) on temporary differences as at December 31, 2016 and
2015 comprise:

December 31, December

2016 31, 2015
Loans to customers (5,323) (5,508)
Embedded derivative financial instrument (1,721) (3,603)
Property and equipment (368) (2,044)
Avallable-for-sale Investments - {1,494)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss s 1,037
Provisions for other assets 331 157
Other liabilities 264 270
Subordinated debt 192 166
QOther assets 176 176
Intangible assets 137 189
QOther provisions 13 141
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Deferred income tax asset on temporary differences 1,113 2,136
Deferred income tax liability on temporary differences (7,412) {12,649)

Loss carry forward - -

Net deferred income tax asset 249 249
Net deferred income tax liability (6,548) (10,762)

Relationships between tax expenses and accounting profit for the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2015 are explained as follows:

2016 2015
Profit before income tax 83,006 68,808
Tax at the statutory tax rate (15%) 12,451 10,321
Deferred tax liability derecognised (4,743) -
Permanent differences 46 {454)
Income tax expense 7,754 9,867
Current income tax expense 10,474 9,976
Deferred income tax benefit {2,720) (109)
Income tax expense 7,754 9,867

2016 2015
As at January 1 - deferred income tax asset 249 249
As at January 1 - deferred income tax liability {10,762) (10,635)
Deferred Income tax reclassified from other comprehensive income 1,494 (236)
Deferred Income tax benefit recognized in profit or loss 2,720 109
As at December 31- deferred income tax assets 249 249
As at December 31- deferred income tax liabilities {6,548) (10,762)

In May 2016 the Georagian parliament adopted and the president signed into changes to the
corporate tax code, with changes applicable on 1 January 2019. The code is applicable for
Georgian companies and permanent establishments ("Pes”) of resident companies, apart from
certain financial institutions and insurance companies.

The previous profit tax regime, under which companies were subject to tax on their annual
taxable profits, is now changed to a system where tax will have to be paid only if corporate profits
are distributed.

The change has had an immediate impact on deferred tax of the Companies as it abolishes
temporary differences between carrying value of certain assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Due to the changes of the tax legislation balance of
deferred tax liability attributable to previously recognised temporary differences arising from prior
periods should be fully written off till 1 January 2019. As a result of the mentioned amendment,
the Management of the Group has assessed the recoverability of deferred tax liability amount and
recognized valuation allowance for its deferred tax liability in the amount of GEL 4,743 thousands.
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13.

14.

15.

16.

Cash and cash equivalents
December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
Cash 19,644 21,120
Balances with the NBG 6,644 12,732
Balances with banks with original maturities up to 90 days 272,328 139,819
Total cash and cash equivalents 298,616 173,671

Mandatory cash balance with the NBG

Mandatory cash balance with the NBG is minimum reserve deposits which are restricted balances
of GEL 143,009 and GEL 76,835, respectively, as at December 31, 2016 and 2015. The Group is
required to maintain minimum reserve deposits at the NBG at all times.

Due from financial institutions

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 the maximum credit risk exposure on due from financial
institutions amounted to GEL 6,026 and GEL 2,192, respectively.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 included in balances due from financial institutions are
guarantee deposits placed by the Group for its operations with plastic cards totaling GEL 3,705
and GEL 1,916, respectively.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise:

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
Embedded derivative instrument 28,247 24,018
Financial assets held for trading 2,108 14,093
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 30,355 38,111

The Group estimates changes in fair value due to credit risk, by estimating the amount of change
in the fair value that is not due to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risks.

With the purpose of hedging against exchange rate movements for loans disbursed to customers
in GEL the Bank has included a currency risk premium condition in its loan agreements. Based on
the currency risk premium term the Bank specifies the upper and lower limits of GEL/USD
exchange rate. According to this condition if the currency exchange rate for any certain date of
repayment is above the cap rate the Bank should receive currency risk premium payment from
the customer while if the exchange rate is below the floor rate the Bank is obliged to pay currency
risk premium amount to the client.

On October 31,2016 the Group has disposed the investment in Raptor Pharmaceuticals for the
total consideration of GEL 21,276 thousand.
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17. Loans to customers

Loans to customers comprise:

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
Originated loans to customers 891,767 871,577
Accrued interest 45,238 20,207
937,005 891,784
Less allowance for impairment losses (82,667) (67,166)
Total loans to customers 854,338 824,618

Movements in the allowance for impairment losses for the years ended December 31, 2016 and
2015 are disclosed in Note 6.

The table below summarizes carrying value of loans to customers analyzed by type of collateral
obtained by the Group:

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
Loans collateralized by pledge of real estate, equipment and inventories 814,936 753,311
Loans collateralized by pledge of cash 28,731 35,184
Unsecured loans 5,071 34,535
Dther collateral 5,600 1,588
Total loans to customers 854,338 824,618

During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 the Group received financial and non-
financial assets by taking possession of collateral it held as security. As at December 31, 2016 and
2015 such assets in amount of GEL 39,852 and GEL 17,222 (See Note 21), respectively, are
included in other assets of the Group.

The table below summarizes loans to customers analyzed by industries as at December 31, 2016:

Allowance for

Allowance for impairment
Gross loans to  impairment Net loans to losses to gross
customers losses customers loans

Analysis by sector:
Individuals 44,798 (3,697) 41,101 8.25%
Trade and service 337,770 (24,924) 312,846 7.38%
Construction 226,320 (35,423) 190,897 15.65%
Manufacturing 270,054 (13,491) 256,563 5.00%
Agriculture 52,633 (4,893) 47,740 9.30%
Energy 3,697 (76) 3,621 2.06%
Transport and communication 1,319 {(79) 1,240 5.99%
Other 414 (84) 330 20.29%
Total 937,005 (82,667) 854,338 8.82%
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The table below summarizes loans to customers analyzed by industries as at December 31, 2015:

Allowance for

Allowance for impairment
Gross loans to impairment Net loans to losses to gross
customers losses customers loans

Analysis by sector:
Individuals 75,901 (5,355) 70,546 7.06%
Trade and service 335,788 (13,895) 321,893 4,14%
Construction 182,269 (38,345) 143,924 21.04%
Manufacturing 171,586 (5,787) 165,799 3.37%
Agriculture 65,534 (1,381) 64,153 211%
Energy 3,385 (14) 3,371 0.41%
Transport and communication 3,134 (70) 3,064 2.23%
Other 54,187 (2,319) 51,868 4,28%
Total 891,784 {67,166) 824,618 7.53%

Loans to individuals comprise the following products:

December 31,

December 31,

2016 2015
Consumer loans 19,306 25,741
Mortgage loans 25,059 49,813
Other 433 347
Less: allowance for impairment losses (3.697) {5,355)
Total loans to individuals 41,101 70,546

Analysis by credit quality of loans to customers outstanding as at December 31, 2016 and 2015

was as follows:

Provision for

Provision impairment
for to gross

As at December 31, 2016 Gross loans impairment Net loans loans
Coliectively Impaired
Not past due 666,277 (16,567) 649,710 2.49%
Overdue:
up to 30 days 20,842 (1,172) 19,670 5.62%
31 to 60 days 8,365 {949) 7,416 11.34%
61 to 90 days 98 (24) 74 24.49%
91 to 180 days 12,546 (2,313) 10,233 18.44%
over 180 days 76,008 (17,734} 58,274 23.33%
Total collectively impaired

loans 784,136 {38,759) 745,377 4.94%
Individually impaired
Not past due 101,858 (30,776) 71,082 30.21%
Overdue:
up to 30 days 13 (3) 10 23.08%
31 to 60 days 1,899 (437) 1,462 23.01%
61 to 90 days 27,861 (6,973) 20,889 25.03%
91 to 180 days e o = C
over 180 days 21,238 (5,719) 15,518 26.93%
Total individually impaired

loans 152,869 {(43,908) 108,961 28.72%
Total loans to customers 937,005 {82,667) 854,338 8.82%
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Provision for

Provision impairment
for to gross

As at December 31, 2015 Gross loans impairment Net loans loans
Collectively impaired
Not past due 678,008 (10,751) 667,257 1.59%
Qverdue:
up to 30 days 634 (49) 585 7.73%
31 to 60 days 18,355 (2,802) 15,553 15.27%
61 to 90 days 415 (88) 327 21.20%
91 to 180 days 3,241 (640) 2,601 19.75%
over 180 days 55,839 (12,277) 43,562 21.99%
Total collectively impaired

loans 756,492 (26,607) 729,885 3.52%
Individually impaired
Not past due 113,826 (33,523) 80,303 29.45%
Overdue:
up to 30 days 487 (62) 425 12.73%
31 to 60 days - - - -
61 to 90 days - - - -
91 to 180 days 13,546 (3,224) 10,322 23.80%
over 180 days 7,433 (3,750) 3,683 50.45%
Total individually impaired

loans 135,292 (40,559) 94,733 29.98%
Total loans to customers 891,784 (67,166) 824,618 7.53%

The tables above show analysis of the loan portfolio based on credit quality. The Group’s policy for
credit risk management purposes is to classify each loan as *neither past due nor impaired’ until
specific objective evidence of impairment of the loan is identified. The primary factors by which the
Group considers a loan as impaired are: overdue status of loan, financial position of a borrower and
fair value of related collateral. Details of credit risk assessment methodology are described in Note

32.

The table below summarizes an analysis of loans to customers by type of assessment:

December 31 2016

December 31 2015

Carrying Allowance Allowance Carrying
value for Carrying Carrying for value
before impairment value before value before impairment before

allowance losses allowance allowance losses allowance
Loans to customers
individually assessed 768,555 (72,627) 695,928 739,929 (57,738) 682,191
Loans to customers
collectively assessed 168,450 {10,040) 158,410 151,855 142,427
Unimpaired loans - 5 - - d
Total 937,005 (82,667) 854,338 891,784 (67,166) 824,618

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 the Group has exposure to seventeen and seven customers,
totaling GEL 366,086 and GEL 131,404, respectively, which individually exceeds 5% of the

Group's equity.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, 98% and 97% of loans are granted to companies operating

in Georgia, which represents a significant geographical concentration in one region.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 carrying value of loans to customers included loans totaling
GEL 17,430 and GEL 7,606, respectively, whose terms were renegotiated. Otherwise these loans

would be past due or impaired.
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18.

Available-for-sale investments

On November 4, 2016 the Group has disposed its investment in Visa Inc. shares for the
consideration of GEL 10,500 thousand.

Management could not reliably estimate the fair value of the Group's investment in shares of its
unquoted equity investments available for sale made for United Clearing Centre JSC and Georgian
Central Securities Depositary LLC, Therefore, these investments are carried at cost of GEL 57
thousand as at December 31, 2016 and 2015. The investees have not published recent financial
information about their operations, their shares are not quoted and recent trade prices are not
publicly accessible.

19. Held to maturity investments
December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
Nominal Nominal
annual interest annual interest
rate Amount rate Amount
Deposit certificates of the Ministry of
Finance of Georgla 5.95%-12% 19,452 5.95%-12% 19,500
Less discount (407) (581)
Total held to maturity investments 19,045 18,919
20. Property and equipment
Property and equipment comprise:
Buildings Computer Leasehold
and other  Furniture and office improvements Construction
real estate and fixtures __equipment ar_ld other progress Total
At cost
January 1, 2015 10,027 5,571 3,321 1,668 718 21,305
Additions 55 255 740 28 4,282 5,360
Transfers 238 469 3,079 3685 {4,151) -
Disposals (827} (120) {93) (51) (66) {1,157)
December 31, 2015 9,493 6,175 7,047 2,010 783 25,508
Additions - 436 77 - 590 1,103
‘Transfers = s 95 268 (363) -
Disposals S {14) {36) {11) {595) {656)
December 31, 2016 9,493 6,597 7,183 2,267 415 25,955
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Accumulated
depreciation

January 1, 2015 1,191 3,897 2,221 1,194 - 8,503
Depreciation charge 232 423 509 214 - 1,378
Eliminated on disposals - {109) (90) (40) - (239)
December 31, 2015 1,423 4,211 2,640 1,368 - 9,642
Depreciation charge 233 448 965 170 - 1,816
Eliminated on disposals * (13) (35) (10) a (58)
December 31, 2016 1,656 4,646 3,570 1,528 - 11,400
Net book value
As at December 31, 7,837 1,951 3,613 739 415 14,555
2016
As at December 31,
2015 8,070 1,964 4,407 642 783 15,866

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 included in property and equipment were fully depreciated
assets totaling GEL 4,540 and GEL 3,494, respectively.

21. Other assets

Other assets comprise:

December 31,

December 31,

2016 2015
Other financial assets:
Accounts receivable 283 1,947
Insurance premium receivable 6,442 5,744
Claims for guarantees paid 240 -
Total other financial assets 6,965 7,691
Other non-financial assets:
Repossessed assets 39,852 17,222
Reinsurance receivable 2,305 3,014
Intangible Assets 3,750 3,267
Tax settlements, other than income tax 309 116
Inventory 103 65
Advances paid 525 588
Other 304 283
Total other non-financial assets 47,148 24,555
Total other assets 54,113 32,246

Movements in the allowance for impairment losses on other assets for the years ended December

31, 2016 and 2015 are disclosed in Note 6.

Repossessed assets as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 include land and buildings in the amount
of GEL 38,548 and GEL 17,222, respectively, which are measured at the lower of its carrying

amount and fair value less cost to sell.
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22.

Intangible assets comprise:

Intangible
assets

At cost
January 1, 2015 3,856
Additions 1,630
Disposals {7}
December 31, 2015 5,479
Additions 1,203
December 31, 2016 6,682
Accumulated amortization
January 1, 2015 1,748
Charge for the year 470
Eliminated on disposals {6}
December 31, 2015 2,212
Charge for the year 720
December 31, 2016 2,932
Net book value
December 31, 2016 3,750
December 31, 2015 3,267

Deposits by banks

Deposits by banks comprise:

December 31,

December 31,
2015

Correspondent accounts of other banks
Short-term deposits from banks

46,690
8,567

Total deposits by banks

55,257

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 accrued interest included in deposits by banks amounted to

GEL 356 and 159, respectively,
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23. Deposits by customers

Deposits by customers comprise:

December 31,

December 31,

2016 2015
Time deposits 335,270 314,365
Repayable on demand 412,340 _ 283,581
Total deposits by customers 747,610 597,946

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 accrued interest included in deposits by customers amounted
to GEL 8,103 and GEL 8,529, respectively.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 deposits by customers totaling GEL 47,470 and GEL 15,420,
respectively, were held as security against guarantees issued by the Group.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 deposits by customers totaling GEL 423,682 and GEL
451,489 (57% and 75% of total deposits by customers), respectively, were for fourteen and
twenty customers, respectively, which represents a significant concentration.

December 31,

December 31,

2016 2015

Analysis by economic sector/customer type:
Individuals 168,177 128,459
Trade and Services 280,054 267,929
Transport and Cormnmunication 84,679 66,154
Energy 68,091 50,083
Construction 12,750 12,048
Manufacturing 10,585 5,996
Agriculture 5,501 5,546
Qther 117,773 61,731

Total deposits by customers 747,610 597,946

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 deposits by customers included balances amounting to GEL
173,200 thousand and GEL 178,200 thousand, respectively, that were sequestrated by

Prosecutor's Office of Georgia.

24. Other liabilities

Other liabilities comprise:

December 31,

December 31,

2016 2015

Other financial liabilities:

Payables for reinsurance liabilities 4,149 4,011
Derivatives - 1,295
Accounts payable 24 30
Total other financial liabilities 4,173 5,336
Other non-financial liabilities:

Unearned premium 4,830 5,067
Provision for insurance reserves 2,555 706
Taxes payable, other than income tax 32 26
Other 2,480 2,317
Total other non-financial liabilities: 9,897 8,116
Total other liabilities 14,070 13,452
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25. Subordinated debt

Subordinated debt comprises:

Maturity Interest December 31, December 31,
Currency date rate % 2016 2015

Fin Service XXI uso 31-Mar-26 6% 80,299 72,710
Fin Service XXI uspD 3i-Mar-26 6% 26,787 24,182
Fin Service XXI uspD 15-Feb-23 6% 26,747 24,162
Total convertible portion 133,833 121,054
Inter Consulting Plus Ltd usp 17-0ct-29 6% 18,537 16,773
Georgian Holding Ltd usp 21-Jun-29 6% 26,481 23,961
Cartu Group usD 31-Oct-16 6% 18,537 -
Cartu Group usD 01-Jun-25 6% 29,791 26,956
Total non-convertible portion 93,346 67,690
Total subordinated debt 227,179 188,744

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 subordinated debt included accrued interest in amounted of

GEL 129 and GEL 108, respectively.

On June 1, 2016 the Group signed a subordinated loan agreement in the amount of GEL 18,537
thousand with Cartu Group to support the growth in its loan portfolio.

On March 31, 2011, December 13, 2011 and February 15, 2013 the Group signed subordinated
loan agreements with Fin Service-XXI LTD maturing on March 31, 2026 (disbursed in 2011) and
February 15, 2023 (disbursed in 2013). According to the agreements the loan is convertible to
equity at maturity. The interest is payable monthly/quarterly in arrears at a nominal annual
interest rate. The rate was initially set to be 2 per cent. When the loans were taken, the
prevailing market interest rate for similar loan without conversion options was 5 per cent for
loans disbursed in 2011 and 6.4 per cent for one disbursed in 2013. On July 1, 2014 the coupon
interest rates on all of these loans have been changed to 6%.

The convertible debis contained two components: liability and equity elements. The equity
elements are presented under the heading of “additional paid in capital”. The effective interest
rate of the liability components on initial recognition were 5.05%; 5.26% and 6.34%,

respectively.

GEL

Equity component as at December 31, 2015 9,424
Equity component as at December 31, 2016 9,424
Liability component as at December 31, 2015 121,054
Interest charge calculated at an effective interest rate of 6% after extinguishment 11,392
Less: interest paid (11,372)
Foreign exchange differences 12,759
Liability component as at December 31, 2016 133,833

In the event of bankruptcy or liquidation of the Group, repayment of these debts is subordinate to
the repayments of the Group's liabilities to all other creditors.
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26.

27.

28.

Other borrowed funds
Maturity Interest December December

Currency date rate % 31, 2016 31, 2015
Bidzina Ivanishvili usp 19/02/2016 6% - 15,567
Bidzina Ivanishvili usb 18/12/2020 6% = 14,369
Bidzina Ivanishvili uso 18/12/2020 6% - 11,975
Ekaterina Khvedelidze usD 31/12/2021 4.5% 124,400 -
Total other borrowed
funds 124,400 41,911

Share capital

Both December 31, 2016 and 2015 share capital consisted of 114,430 ordinary shares with par
value of GEL 1 each.

Commitments and contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Group is a party to financial instruments with off-balance
sheet risk in order to meet the needs of its customers. These instruments, involving varying
degrees of credit risk, are not reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group uses the same credit control and management policies in undertaking off-balance
sheet commitments as it does for on-balance operations.

Provision for losses on contingent liabilities totaled GEL 1,530 and GEL 1,992 as at December 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 contingent liabilities comprise:

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
Contingent liabilities and credit commitments
Guarantees issued and similar commitments 62,435 57,135
Letters of credit and other transaction related contingent obligations - 639
Commitments on loans and unused credit lines 27,355 26,509
Total contingent liabilities and credit commitments 89,790 84,283

Extension of loans to customers within credit line limits is approved by the Group on a case-by-case
basis and depends on borrowers’ financial performance, debt service and other conditions. As at
December 31, 2016 and 2015 such unused credit lines come to GEL 27,355 and GEL 26,509,
respectively.

Capital commitments - The Group had no material commitments for capital expenditures
outstanding as at December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Operating lease commitments - No material rental commitments were outstanding as at
December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Legal proceedings - From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the
Group are received from customers and counterparties. Management is of the opinion that no
material unaccrued losses will be incurred and accordingly no provision has been made in these
consclidated financial statements.
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Taxation — Commercial legislation of Georgia, including tax legislation, may allow more than one
interpretation. In addition, there is a risk of tax authorities making arbitrary judgments of business
activities. If a particular treatment, based on management’s judgment of the Group’s business
activities, was to be challenged by the tax authorities, the Group may be assessed additional taxes,
penalties and interest.

Georgian transfer pricing legislation was amended starting from January 1, 2015 to introduce
additional reporting and documentation requirements. The new legislation allows the tax authorities
to impose additional tax liabilities in respect of certain transactions, including but not limited to
transactions with related parties, if they consider transaction to be priced not at arm's length. The
impact of challenge of the Group's transfer pricing positions by the tax authorities cannot be reliably
estimated.

Such uncertainty may relate to the valuation of financial instruments, valuation of provision for
impairment losses and the market pricing of deals. Additionally such uncertainty may relate to the
valuation of temporary differences on the provision and recovery of the provision for impairment
losses on loans to customers and receivables, as an underestimation of the taxable profit. The
management of the Group believes that it has accrued all tax amounts due and therefore no
allowance has been made in the consolidated financial statements.

Operating environment — Emerging markets such as Georgia are subject to different risks than
more developed markets, including economic, political and social, and legal and legislative risks.
Laws and regulations affecting businesses in Georgia continue to change rapidly, tax and
regulatory frameworks are subject to varying interpretations. The future economic direction of
Georgia is heavily influenced by the fiscal and monetary policies adopted by the government,
together with developments in the legal, regulatory, and political environment.

Throughout 2016 Georgia’s neighboring countries, which are large trading partners of Georgia,
have experienced significant political and economic turmoi! which has had a knock-on effect on
the Georgian economy. This has resulted in a significant devaluation of the Georgian Lari against
the US dollar and other major currencies.

29, Transactions with related parties

Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Bank, have
been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed In this note. Details of transactions
between the Group and other related parties are disclosed beiow:

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
Total category Total category
as per the as per the
consolidated consolidated
financial financial
Related party statements Related party statements
balances caption balances caption
Loans to customers 24,482 937,005 36,703 891,784
- other related parties 23,147 36,264
- Key management personnel 1,335 439
Allowance for impairment osses on
loans to customers (433) {82,667) {609) (67,166)
- other related parties (403) {599)
- Key management personnel (30} (10)
Deposits by customers (25,865) (747,610) (16,719) (597,946)
- parent (179) (9,294)
- other related parties (25,602) (7,398)
- key management personnel (84) (27)

47



Cartu Bank Group

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the Year Ended December 31, 2016 (continued)
{in thousands of Georgian Lari)

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

Total category

Total category

as per the as per the
consolidated consolidated
financial financial
Related party statements Related party statements
balances caption balances caption
Subordinated debt (227,179) (227,179) (188,744) (188,744)
- other related parties (178,851) (161,788)
- shareholders (48,328) (26,956)
Other borrowed funds {124,400} (124,400) (41,911) (41,911)
- other related parties (124,400) (41,911)
Guarantees issued and similar
commitments (8,704) (62,435) (7,331) (57,135)
- pther related parties (8,704) (7,331)
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management were as follows:
2016 2015
Total category Total category
as per the as per the
consolidated consolidated
financial financial
Related party statements Related party statements
transactions caption transactions caption
Key management personnel
compensation:
- short-term employee benefits 565 10,365 580 10,025

Included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years ended December 31, 2016
and 2015 are the following amounts which were recognized in transactions with related parties:

2016 2015
Total category Total category
as per the as per the
consolidated consolidated
financial financial
Related party statements Related party statements
transactions caption transactions caption
Interest income 3,726 108,902 2,530 111,065
- other related parties 3,669 2,505
- Key management personnel 57 25
Interest expense {11,602) (38,080) (1,379) (29,329)
- Key management personnel (34) (927)
- parent (1,793} {(810)
- other related parties (9,775) {9,426}
Fee and commission income 231 7,409 251 6,805
- Key management personnel 1 1
- other related parties 230 250
Charity and sponsorhsip (7,760) {7,760) (9,750) (9,750}
- other related parties (7,760) (9,750)
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30. Fair value of financial instruments

IFRS defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Group using
available market information, where it exists, and appropriate valuation methodologies. However,
judgment is necessarily required to interpret market data to determine the estimated fair value.
Georgia continues to display some characteristics of an emerging market and economic conditions
continue to limit the volume of activity in the financial markets. Market quotations may be outdated
or reflect distress sale transactions and therefore not represent fair values of financial instruments.
Management has used all available market information in estimating the fair value of financial
instruments.

Financial assets and liabilities for which fair value approximates carrying value

Cash and cash equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost which
approximates their current fair value.

Mandatory reserve with the National Bank of Georgia - Mandatory reserve with the National
Bank of Georgia is carried at amortized cost which approximates their fair value.

Due from financial institutions - Management of the Bank has concluded that carrying amount
of due from financial institutions balances which are carried at amortized cost approximates their
fair value.

Held to maturity investments - The fair values of held to maturity investments is determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis
using prices from observable current market transactions for similar instruments. Significant
portion of held to maturity investments were purchased in the year 2014, therefore the
management concluded that fair value approximates to carrying amount.

Deposits by banks - Deposit by banks include deposits placed by banks at the end of the year
with original maturity less than 1 year and loro accounts. Therefore, management of the Bank has
concluded that carrying amount of deposits by banks which are carried at amortized cost
approximates their fair value.

Subordinated debt - Subordinated debts are initially recognized at market rates and
subsequently measured at amortized costs. In the year 2014, subordinated debts loan
agreements were renegotiated and interest rate re priced. Management of the Bank reviewed
effective interest rates applied to subordinated debts and concluded that it approximates to
market rate, therefore carrying value approximates fair value.

Other non-derivative financial assets and non-derivative financial liabilities — Other
financial assets and liabilities are mainly represented by short-term receivables and payables,
therefore the carrying amount is assumed to be reasonable estimate of their fair value.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value
on a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required).

Loans to customers - The estimated fair value of fixed interest rate instruments is based on
estimated future cash flows expected to be received discounted at current interest rates of new
instruments with similar credit risk and remaining maturity. Discount rates depend on currency,
maturity of the instrument and credit risk of the counterparty.

Deposits by customers - For the short term maturity deposits it is assumed that the carrying
amounts approximate to their fair value, This assumption is also applied to demand deposits and
current accounts without a maturity. Long term deposits by customers fair value was estimated
based on expected future cash flows discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with
similar risk and remaining maturity. Discounted rates used were consistent with the Group's
credit risk and also depend on currency and maturity of the instrument.
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Fair Value December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Carrying Carrying
Hierarchy value Fair value value Fair value
Loans to customers 5 854,338 849,521 824,618 871,367
Depuosits by customers 3 747,610 733,937 597,946 558,527

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value
on a recurring basis.

Some of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s)
and inputs used).

Relationship of
Significant unobservable
December December Fair value Valuation technique(s) unobservable inputs to fair

31.

31, 2016 31, 2015 hierarchy and key input(s) input(s) value
Financial assets 2,108 14,093 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an N/A N/A
held for active market.
trading assets
(See Note 16)
Embedded 28,247 24,018 Level 3 Discounted cash flows N/A N/A

derivatives
{See Note 16)

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. The
management and shareholder have the intention to further develop the Group and the Group’s
management believes that the going concern assumption is appropriate for the Group due to its
sufficient capital adequacy and based on historical experience that short-term obligations wili be
refinanced in the normal course of business.

The adequacy of the Group’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the ratios
established by the Basel Capital Accord 1988 and the ratios established by the NBG in supervising
the Group.

Under the current capital requirements set by the NBG banks have ta: (a) hold the minimum level
of share capital of GEL 12,000,000 (b) maintain a ratio of regulatory capital to risk weighted
assets ("reguiatory capital ratio") at or above a prescribed minimum of 12% and (c) maintain a
ratio of tier-1 capital to the risk-weighted assets (the 'Tier-1 capital ratio') at or above the
prescribed minimum of 8%.

The following table analyzes the Bank’s regulatory capital resources for capital adequacy purposes
based on reports prepared in accordance with the NBG requirements. Ratios are calculated based
on Basel I requirements:

2016 2015
Share capital 114,430 114,430
Reserve funds 6,838 6,538
Retained earnings 30,798 76,937
Less: intangible assets {3,713) (3,242)
Tier 1 capital 148,353 194,663
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32.

Profit for the period 39,595 19,361
Special funds 600 400
ngferssl)provismns (maximum 1.25% credit and market risk weighted 10,667 12,612
Convertible subordinated loan 132,340 119,745
Subordinated debt (up to 50% of tier 1 capital) 74,177 67,656
Tier 2 capital (up to 100% tier 1 capital) 148,353 194,663
Less: investments in subsidiaries (6,922) {4,422)
Total regulatory capital 289,784 384,904
Risk weighted assets 1,541,037 1,375,756
Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio 9.63% 14.15%
Total regulatory capital adequacy ratio 18.80% 27.98%

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Bank included in the computation of total regulatory capital
for capital adequacy purposes the convertible debt and subordinated debt received limited to 50%
of Tier 1 capital, respectivelly. In the event of bankruptcy or liquidation of the Bank, repayment of
this debt is subordinated to the repayments of the Bank's liabilities to all other creditors.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Bank included in the computation of total regulatory capital
for capital adequacy purposes the general provisions, limited to 1.25% of risk weighted assets.

From June 2014, in addition to the capital ratios, banks are also required to calculate capital
adequacy in accordance with the regulation on capital adequacy requirements for commercial
banks dated 28 October 2013 according which banks have to (a8} maintain a ratio of common
equity tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets at or above 7%, (b) maintain a ratio of tier 1 capital
to risk weighted assets at or above 8.5%, (¢} maintain a ratio of regulatory capital to risk
weighted assets at or above 10.5%.

Capital ratios in accordance with the National Bank of Georgia requirements under the updated
regulation on capital adequacy are as following:

Common equity tier 1 capital 9.96%
Tier 1 capital 9.96%
Regulatory capital 23.06%

Risk management policies

Management of risk is fundamental to the Group‘s banking business and is an essential element
of the Group’s operations. The main risks inherent to the Group’s operations are those related to
the following:

« Credit risk;

« Liquidity risk;

+ Market risk;

« QOperational risk;

To enable and apply high-performance risk policies, the Group has established a risk
management framework, whose main purpose is to protect the Group from unacceptable level of
risk and allow it to achieve its performance objectives. Through the risk management framework,
the Group manages the following risks:

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will
fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss.
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Risk management and monitoring is performed within set limits of authority. These processes are
performed by the Credit Committees and the Group’s Management Board. Before any application
is made by the Credit Committee, all recommendations on credit processes {borrower’s limits
approved, or amendments made to loan agreements, etc.) are reviewed and approved by the
Risk Management Department of Head Office. Daily risk management is performed by the Heads
of Credit Departments and Service Centre’s Credit Divisions.

The Group structures the level of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk
accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to industry segments. Limits on
the level of credit risk by a borrower, industry sector are approved by the Management Board.
The exposure to any one borrower including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits
covering on and off-balance sheet exposures which are set by the Credit Committee. Actual
exposures against limits are monitored on a regular basis.

Where appropriate, and in the case of most loans, the Group obtains collateral and corporate and
personal guarantees. However, some portion of loans is personal lending, where no such facilities
can be obtained. Such risks are monitored on a continuous basis and subject to annual or more
frequent reviews.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of credit in the form of loans,
guarantees or letters of credit. The credit risk on off-balance sheet financial instruments is
defined as a probability of losses due to the inability of counterparty to comply with the
contractual terms and conditions.

With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Group is potentially exposed to a
loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of the loss
Is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit are
contingent upon custoemers maintaining specific credit standards. The Group applies the same
credit policy to the contingent liabilities as it does to the balance sheet financial instruments, i.e.
the one based on the procedures for approving the grant of loans, using limits to mitigate the
risk, and current monitoring. The Group monitors the term to maturity of off balance sheet
contingencies because longer term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk
than short-term commitments.

Credit risk assessment

To assess credit risk of exposures to the borrowers the Bank has developed methodology in
accordance with IFRS.

The Bank divides loan portfolio into individually significant and non-significant group of borrowers.
Individually significant are group of borrowers which exposure exceeds 1% of Bank’s regulatory
capital.

Individually significant group of borrowers are assessed individually using the specific
methodology to determine future cash flows discounted at original effective interest rate.
Individual impairment amount is then compared to collective assessment taking into account the
industry applicable PD and LGD rates and higher off are taken. In case of absence of impairment
signs, an individually assessed loan is provided for using the rate that is based on the collective
assessment applied to the same borrower category.

Individual assessment methodology

Factors that the Bank considers in determining future cash flows include information about the
borrowers’ liquidity, solvency and business and financial risk exposures, levels of and trends in
delinquencies for similar financial assets and the fair value of collaterals (real estate and deposit).

The Bank assesses fair value of the collaterals and for provision estimation purposes determines
liquidation value using different haircuts for different type of collaterals. To understand the liquid
value of collateral, their market values are decreased by applying 20%; 40% and 50% haircuts to
the real estate, movable property and inventory, respectively. Liquid value of collaterals are
further discounted using original effective interest rate of the borrower and applying 12 to 18
months as a collateral realisation period.
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Risk of defaulted exposure is reduced by discounted collateral liquidation value.
Methodology for collective assessment of portfolio

Collective assessment of portfolio was implemented using roll rates model. Portfolio was divided
by industry segments. Observation period for each segment was taken as two years from
December 2014, During the observation period by the state of end of months and with account of
exposure of each loan, the one month migration matrixes were generated. In order to exclude
portfolio growth effect, the loans disbursed from December 2015 and 2016 were excluded from
the statistics.

Based on migration matrix probability of default was calculated for each segment. Default was
determined as 180 days overdue for corporate segments and 120 days for retail.

Loss given default is calculated per each segment. To incorporate expected recoveries, cash
recoveries and collateral recoveries (adjusted by expenditures related to collateral realization) is
calculated.

Maximum exposure of credit risk

The Group exposure to credit risk has increased significantly over the past year, following the
general market development. Nonetheless this growth of the exposure was not accompanied by
deterioration of the performance indicators of the banks portfolio.

The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk of balance sheet and off
balance sheet financial assets. For financial assets in the balance sheet, the maximum exposure is
equal to the carrying amount of those assets prior to any offset or collateral. The Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk under contingent liabilities and commitments to extend credit,

in the event of non-performance by the other party where all counterclaims, collateral or security
prove value less, is represented by the contractual amounts of those instruments.

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 30,355 38,111
Due from financial institutions 6,026 2,192
Loans to customers 854,338 824,618
Held to maturity investments 19,045 18,919
Investment available-for-sale 57 10,017
Other financial assets 6,965 7,601
Guarantees issued and similar commitments 62,435 57,135
Commitments on loans and unused credit lines 27,355 26,509

Off-balance sheet risk

The Group applies fundamentally the same risk management policies for off-balance sheet risks
as it does for its on-balance sheet risks. In the case of commitments to lend, customers and
counterparties will be subject to the same credit management policies as for loans and advances.
Collateral may be sought depending on the strength of the counterparty and the nature of the
transaction.

Geographical concentration
The Assets and Liabilities Committee ("ALCO") exercises control over the risk in the legislation

and regulatory area and assesses its influence on the Group’s activity. This approach allows the
Group to minimize potential losses from the investment climate fluctuations In Georgia.
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The geographical concentration of assets and liabilities is set out below:

Other December 31,
non-OECD OECD 2016
Georgia countries countries Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalent 289,717 6,647 2,252 298,616
Mandatory cash balance with the NBG 143,009 = S 143,009
Fllnancial assets at fair value through profit or 28,247 - 2,108 30,355
o0ss
Due from financial institutions 926 - 5,100 6,026
Loans to customers 835,018 18,963 357 854,338
Available-for-sale investments 57 e = 57
Held to maturity investments 19,045 - - 19,045
Other financial assets 5,577 1,387 1 6,965
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 1,321,596 26,997 9,818 1,358,411
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Deposits by banks 19,576 - 29 19,605
Deposits by customers 511,036 224,948 11,626 747,610
Other borrowed funds 124,400 - - 124,400
Other financial liabilities 38 33 4,102 4,173
Subordinated debt 227,179 - - 227,179
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 882,229 224,981 15,757 1,122,967
NET POSITION 439,367 {197,984) {5,939)
Other December 31,
non-OECD OECD 2015
Georgia countries countries Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 89,140 84,507 24 173,671
Mandatory cash balance with the NBG 76,835 S - 76,835
Financial assets at fair value through profit or - - 38,111 38,111
loss
Due from financial institutions 277 o 1,915 2,192
Loans to customers 796,337 14 28,267 824,618
Available-for-sale investments 59 - 9,958 10,017
Held to maturity investments 18,919 - - 18,919
Other financial assets 6,816 875 5 7,691
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 988,383 85,396 78,275 1,152,054
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Deposits by banks 55,251 6 - 55,257
Deposits by customers 568,240 24,035 5,671 597,946
Other borrowed funds 41,911 . . 41,911
Other financial liabilities 1,140 2,933 1,263 5,336
Subordinated debt 188,744 S - 188,744
TOTAL FINANCIAL LTIABILITIES 855,286 26,974 6,934 889,194
NET POSITION 133,097 58,422 71,341
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Collateral

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the
counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and

valuation parameters.

The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:

. For commercial lending, charges over real estate properties, guarantees, vehicles and

equipment;

. For retail lending, mortgages over residential properties, guarantees, vehicles and

equipment.

During the year, the Group took possession of assets with a carrying value of GEL 24,820 at the
statement of financial position date, which the Group is in the process of selling.

Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance
with the underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its
review of the adequacy of the allowance for impairment losses.

At December 31, 2016 the fair value of collateral that the Group holds relating to loans

individually determined to be impaired amounts to GEL 117,543, The collateral consists of real
estate, vehicles, equipment inventory, deposit and others.

Credit quality by classes of financial assets

As at December 31, 2016:

Neither past Past due but

due nor not Total
individually  individually Individually (Impairment December
impaired impaired impaired allowance) 31, 2016
Cash and cash equivalents 298,616 - - - 298,616
Mandatory cash balance with the
NBG 143,009 - . - 143,009
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 30,355 - - - 30,355
Due from financial institutions 6,026 - e - 6,026
Loans to customers 664,353 117,858 154,794 (82,667) 854,338
Available-for-sale investments 57 - - - 57
Held to maturity investments 19,045 - - = 19,045
Other financial assets 6,965 = i - 6,965
As at December 31, 2015:
Neither past Past due but
due nor not Total
individually individually Individually (Impairment December
impaired impaired impaired allowance) 31, 2015
Cash and cash equivalents 173,671 - 5 - 173,671
Mandatory cash balance with the
NBG 76,835 - : - 76,835
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 38,111 - - - 38,111
Due from financial institutions 2,192 - - - 2,192
Loans to customers 678,015 78,484 135,285 (67,166) 824,618
Available-for-sale investments 10,017 - - - 10,017
Held to maturity investments 18,919 - - - 18,919
Other financial assets 7,691 - - - 7,691
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Credit quality by class of financial assets

Financial assets are graded according to the current credit rating they have been issued by an
internationally regarded agency such as Fitch, The highest possible rating is AAA. Investment
grade financial assets have ratings from AAA to BBB. Financial assets which have ratings lower
than BEB are classed as speculative grade.

As at December, 31 2016 and 2015 the balances with the NBG (including mandatory cash
balance) amounted to GEL 149,653 and GEL 89,566, respectively. The credit rating of Georgia
according to the international rating agencies corresponded to investment level BB-.

The following table details credit ratings of financial assets held by the Group as at December 31,

2016:
Total at
Not December
AAA AA A BBB <BBB rated 31,2016
Cash and cash equivalents = o 5,542 256,632 7,623 28,819 298,616
Mandatory cash balance with the o - - - 143,009 - 143,009
NBG
Financial assets at fair value - - - 375 310 29,670 30,355
through profit or loss
Due from financial institutions S - 5,103 - - 923 6,026
Loans to customers C s C - - 854,338 854,328
Available-for-sale investments o S e = - 57 57
Held to maturity investments S S e - 19,045 - 19,045
Other financial assets e = s - s 6,965 6,965
As at December 31, 2015:
Total at
Not December
AAA AA A BBB <BBB rated 31, 2015
Cash and cash equivalents - - 48,887 12,027 20,254 92,503 173,671
Mandatory cash balance with the - - - - 76,835 - 76,835
NBG
Financial assets at fair value 55 - 277 201 183 37,395 38,111
through profit or loss
Due from financial institutions = - 1,916 250 = 26 2,192
Loans to customers - - £ - - 824,618 B24,618
Available-for-sale investrnents - = 9,958 - - 59 10,017
Held to maturity investments - - = - 18,919 . 18,919
Other financial assets - - = = - 7,691 7,691

Financial assets other than loans to customers are graded according to the current credit rating
they have been issued by an internationally regarded agency such as Fitch, Standard & Poor’s and
Moody’s.

The Group enters into numerous transactions where the counterparties are not rated by
international rating agencies. The Group has developed internal models, which allow it to
determine the rating of counterparties. A methodology to determine credit ratings of borrowers
has been developed in the Group to assess borrowers based on financial strength, purposeful use
of funds and collateralization which in turn are weighted against different risk measures. Based on
these three indicators the Bank calculates overall loan stability and customer ratings.

Renegotiated loans to customers

Loans to customers are generally renegotiated either as part of an ongoing customer relationship or
in response to an adverse change in the circumstances of the borrower. In the latter case,
renegotiation can resuit in an extension of the due date of payment or repayment plans under
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which the Bank offers a concessionary rate of interest to genuinely distressed borrowers, This will
result in the asset continuing to be overdue and will be individually impaired where the
renegotiated payments of interest and principal will not recover the original carrying amount of the
asset. In other cases, renegotiation will lead to a new agreement, which is treated as a new loan.

Carrying amount_by class of financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated:

The table below shows the carrying amount of renegotiated financial assets, by class:

December 31, December 31,
Financial asset class 2016 2015
Loans to customers 32,760 22,895

The banking industry is generally exposed to credit risk through its loans to custormers and inter
bank deposits. With regard to the loans to customers this risk exposure is concentrated within
Georgia. The exposure is monitored on a regular basis to ensure that the credit limits and credit
worthiness guidelines established by the Group’s risk management policy are not breached.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk refers to the availability of sufficient funds to meet deposit withdrawals and other
financial commitments associated with financial instruments as they actually fall due.

The Assets and Liabilities Committee ("ALCO") controls these types of risks by means of maturity
analysis, determining the Group’s strategy for the next financial period. Current liquidity is
managed by the Treasury Department, which deals in the money markets for current liquidity
support and cash flow optimization.

In order to manage liquidity risk, the Group performs daily monitoring of future expected cash
flows on clients’ and banking operations, which is a part of assets/liabilities management process.
The Management Board sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available to
meet deposit withdrawals and on the minimum level on interbank and other borrowing facilities
that should be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand.

Further is analysis of liquidity and Interest rate risks:

(a) term to maturity of financial liabilities, that are not derivatives, calculated for non-discounted
cash flows on financial liabilities (main debt and interests) on the earliest date, when the Group
will be liable to redeem the liability;

(b) term to maturity of financial liabilities, that are derivatives, calculated for non-discounted cash
flows on financial liabilities on the earliest date, when the Group will be liable to redeem the
liability; and

{c) estimated term till maturity of financial assets, that are not derivatives, calculated for non-
discounted cash flows on financial assets (including interests), which will be received on these
assets based on contractual terms of maturity, except the cases when the Group expects that
cash flows will be received in the different time.

An analysis of the liquidity by classes of financial assets and financial liabilities, and interest rate

risks is presented in the following table. The presentation below is based upon the information
provided internally to key management personnel of the Group.

57



Cartu Bank Group

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for the Year Ended December 31, 2016 (continued)

(in thousands of Georgian Lari)

December
Up to i monthto 3 monthto 1yearto Over 31, 2016
1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 49,055 - - - - 49,055
Mandatory cash balance with the
NBG 143,009 - - - - 143,009
Due from financial institutions 131 132 660 - - 923
Loans to customers 130,687 45,647 156,194 365,849 155,961 854,338
Held to maturity investments 3,947 6,426 4,875 3,797 - 19,045
Total interest bearing
financial assets 326,829 52,205 161,729 369,646 155,961 1,066,370
Cash and cash equivalents 249,561 - - - - 249,561
Financial assets at Fair value
through profit or loss 30,355 - - - - 30,355
Due from financial institutions - - 1,397 - 3,706 5,103
Available-for-sale investments 57 e - - - 57
Other financial assets 1,486 3,311 2,085 75 8 6,965
Total non-interest bearing
financial assets 281,459 3,311 3,482 75 3,714 292,041
Total financial assets 608,288 55,516 165,211 369,721 159,675 1,358,411
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Deposits by customers 158,575 37,701 215,228 5,754 495 417,753
Due to banks 4,776 - 14,769 e S 19,545
Subordinated debt 129 g - - 227,050 227,179
Other borrowed funds - - = 124,400 - 124,400
Total interest bearing
financial liabilities 163,480 37,701 229,997 130,154 227,545 788,877
Due to banks 60 - - - - 60
Deposits by customers 329,857 - - - - 329,857
Other financial liabilities 913 161 3,099 & - 4,173
Total non-interest bearing
financial liabilities 330,830 161 _3,099 - - 334,090
Total financial liabilities 494,310 37,862 233,096 130,154 227,545 1,122,068
Interest sensitivity gap 163,349 14,504 {68,268) 239,492 (71,584)
Cumulative interest
sensitivity gap 163,349 177,853 109,585 349,077 277,493
Liquidity gap 113,977 17,654 (67,885) 239,567 (67,870)
Cumulative liquidity gap 113,977 131,631 63,746 303,313 235,443
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December
Up to 1 monthto 3 monthto 1 yearto Over 31, 2015
1 month 3 months 1 year S years 5 years Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 55,086 12,768 - - - 67,854
Mandatory cash balance with the
NBG 76,835 - . - - 76,835
Due from financial institutions - - 276 - - 276
Loans to customers 93,908 26,782 213,546 380,921 109,461 824,618
Held to maturity investments 1,995 5,428 7,740 3,756 - 18,919
Total interest bearing
financial assets 227,824 44,978 221,562 384,677 109,461 988,502
Cash and cash equivalents 105,817 - . - - 105,817
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 38,111 - - - - 38,111
Due from financia! institutions - - - - 1,916 1,916
Available-for-sale investments = - - 10,017 - 10,017
Other financial assets 4,180 774 2,663 53 21 7,691
Total non-interest bearing
financial assets 148,108 774 2,663 10,070 1,937 163,552
Total financial assets 375,932 45,752 224,225 394,747 111,398 1,152,054
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Deposits by customers 177,067 82,925 170,696 5,846 386 436,920
Due to banks - 8,541 26 s - 8,567
Subordinated debt 108 - - S 188,636 188,744
Other beorrowed funds - 15,567 - 26,344 - 41,911
Total interest bearing
financial liabilities 177,175 107,033 170,722 32,190 189,022 676,142
Deposits by banks 46,690 - - - - 46,690
Deposits by customers 161,026 - - - - 161,026
QOther financial liabilities 2,060 838 2,438 - - 5,336
Total non-interest bearing
financial liabilities 209,776 838 2,438 - - 213,052
Total financial liabilities 386,951 107,871 173,160 32,190 189,022 889,194
Interest sensitivity gap 50,649 (62,055) 50,840 352,487 (79,561)
Cumulative interest
sensitivity gap 50,649 (11,406} 39,434 391,921 312,360
Liquidity gap (11,019) (62,119) 51,065 362,557 (77,624)
Cumulative liquidity gap (11,019) (73,138) (22,073) 340,484 262,860

An analysis of liquidity and interest rate risk is presented in the following table. The presentation
below is based upon the information provided internally to key management personnel of the
Group. The amounts disclosed in these tables do not correspond to the amounts recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position as the presentation below includes a maturity analysis
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for financial assets and liabilities that indicates the total remaining contractual payments
(including interest payments), which are not recognized in the consolidated statement of financial
position under the effective interest rate method.

Weighted

average

effective 1 month December

interest Up to to 3 month 1 yearto Over 31, 2016

rate 1imonth 3 months tolyear 5 years 5 years Total

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 49,055 - - - - 49,055
Mandatory cash balance
with the NBG 143,009 - - - - 143,009
Due from financial
institutions 7.00% 131 134 700 - - 965
Loans to customers 10.30% 135,918 56,206 203,873 508,112 188,278 1,092,387
Held to maturity
investments 7.26% 3,952 6,500 5,000 4,000 - 19,452
Total interest bearing
financial assets 332,065 62,840 209,573 512,112 188,278 1,304,868
Cash and cash equivatents 249,561 S = - s 249,561
Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss 30,355 - - - - 30,355
Due from financial
institutions - - 1,397 - 3,706 5,103
Available-for-sale
investments 57 - - - - 57
Other financial assets 1,486 3,311 2,085 75 8 6,965
Total non-interest
bearing financial assets 281,459 3,311 3,482 75 3,714 292,041
TOTAL FINANCIAL
ASSETS 613,524 66,151 213,055 512,187 191,992 1,596,909
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Deposits by customers 3.54% 117,325 37,956 221,438 9,760 38,505 424,984
Deposits by banks 4.88% 4,788 1,387 15,211 - - 21,386
Subordinated debt 6.00% 1,323 2,577 10,041 67,707 273,026 354,674
Other borrowed funds 4.50% 475 905 3,742 147,282 - 152,404
Total interest bearing
financial liabilities 123,911 42,825 250,432 224,749 311,531 953,448
Deposits by banks 60 o - - - 60
Deposits by customers 329,857 - - - - 329,857
Other financial liabilities 913 161 3,099 - - 4,173
Total non-interest
bearing financial
liahilities 330,830 161 3,099 - - 334,090
TOTAL FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES 454,741 42,986 253,531 224,749 311,531 1,287,538
Guarantees issued 2,857 5,123 22,320 30,736 1,398 62,435
Unused credit line 16,143 196 3,686 7,330 - 27,355
TOTAL FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES AND
COMMITMENTS 473,741 48,305 279,537 262,816 312,929 1,377,328
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Weighted

average

effective 1 month December

interest Up to to 3 month 1yearto Over 31, 2015

rate 1 month 3 months to 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 55,086 12,768 = - - 67,854
Mandatory cash balance
with the NBG 76,835 - - - - 76,835
Due from financial
institutions 9.50% - - 276 - - 276
Loans to customers 10.53% 107,801 38,025 265,276 535,831 130,955 1,077,888
Held to maturity
investments 9.21% 2,000 5,500 8,000 4,000 - 19,500
Total interest bearing
financial assets 241,722 56,203 273,552 539,831 130,955 1,242,353
Cash and cash equivalents 105,817 . - - - 105,817
Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss 38,111 . C - - 38,111
Due from financial
institutions - - - - 1,916 1,916
Available-for-sale
investments = - - 10,017 - 10,017
Other financial assets 4,180 774 2,663 53 21 7,691
Total non-interest
bearing financial assets 148,108 774 2,663 10,070 1,937 163,552
TOTAL FINANCIAL
ASSETS 389,830 57,067 276,215 549,901 132,892 1,405,905
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Deposits by customers 5.75% 140,638 83,964 176,309 6,289 629 407,829
Deposits by banks 3.13% - 8,615 38 - - 8,653
Subordinated debt 6.00% 704 1,903 8,469 56,251 237,866 305,193
Qther borrowed funds 6.00% 157 15,875 1,191 32,671 - 49,894
Total interest bearing
financial liabilities 141,499 110,357 186,007 95,211 238,495 771,569
Deposits by banks 46,690 - - - - 46,690
Deposits by customers 181,301 - - - - 181,301
Other financial liabilities 2,060 838 2,438 - - 5,336
Total non-interest
bearing financial
liabilities 230,051 838 2,438 - - 233,327
TOTAL FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES 371,550 111,195 188,445 95,211 238,495 1,004,896
Guarantees issued 731 9,319 24,347 22,738 - 57,135
Letters of credit - 640 - - - 640
Unused credit line 4,916 65 5977 3,556 11,995 26,509
TOTAL FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES AND
COMMITMENTS 377,197 121,219 218,769 121,505 250,490 1,089,180
Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the Group’s earnings or capital or its ability to meet business
objectives will be adversely affected by changes in the level or volatility of market rates or prices.
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Market risk covers interest rate risk, currency risk and other pricing risks that the Group is
exposed to. There have been no changes as to the way the Group measures risk or to the risk it
is exposed or the manner in which these risks are managed and measured.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risks as the Group borrows funds at both fixed and floating
rates. The risk is managed by the Group maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and
floating rate borrowings.

The ALCO also manages interest rate and market risks by matching the Group’s interest rate
position, which provides the Group with a positive interest margin. The Department of Financial
Supervision conducts monitoring of the Group’s current financial performance, estimates the
Group's sensitivity to changes in interest rates and its influence on the Group’s profitability.

The majority of the Group’s loan contracts and other financial assets and liabilities that bear
interest are either variable or contain clauses enabling the interest rate to be changed at the
option of the lender. The Group monitors its interest rate margin and consequently does not
consider itself exposed to significant interest rate risk or consequential cash flow risk.

Interest rate sensitivity

The Group manages fair value interest rate risk through periodic estimation of potential losses
that could arise from adverse changes in market conditions. The Department of Financial
Supervision conducts monitoring of the Group’s current financial performance, estimates the
Group's sensitivity to changes in fair value interest rates and its influence on the Group’s
profitability.

The following table presents a sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk, which has been determined
based on “reasonably possible changes in the risk variable”. The level of these changes is
determined by management and is contained within the risk reports provided to key management
personnel.

Impact of interest rate 2 basis points changes on profit before tax and equity based on financial
assets and liabilities values as at December 31, 2016; and 2015 were as following:

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
Interest rate Interest rate Interestrate Interest rate

+5% -5% +5% -5%
Net impact on profit before tax 13,875 (13,875) 28,399 (28,399)
Net impact on equity 11,793 {11,793) 24,139 (24,139}

Currency risk

Currency risk is defined as the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the
prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows.

The ALCO controls currency risk by management of the open currency position on the estimated
basis of Georgian Lari devaluation and other macroeconomic indicators, which gives the Group an
opportunity to minimize losses from significant currency rates fluctuations toward its national
currency. The Treasury Department performs daily monitoring of the Group’s open currency
position with the aim to match the requirements of the National Bank of Georgia.

The Group’s open positions by the major currencies in which it holds the assets and liabilities are
presented below:
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{in thousands of Georgian Lari)

uUsp EUR December
usb1= EUR 1 = Other 31, 2016
GEL GEL 2.6468 GEL 2.7940 currency Total
NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 61,991 228,151 7,629 845 298,616
Mandatory cash balance with the NBG - 136,084 6,925 - 143,009
Financial assets at fair value through _
profit or loss 28,246 1,992 117 30,355
Due from financial institutions 926 3,703 1,397 - 6,026
Loans to customers 195,371 641,034 17,933 - 854,338
Avallable-for-sale investments 57 57
Held to maturity investments 19,045 - - - 19,045
Other financial assets 2,837 2,909 1,219 = 6,965
T oeaL NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 308,473 1,013,873 35,103 962 1,358,411
NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES
Deposits by banks 4 19,570 3 28 19,605
Deposits by customers 65,309 644,685 37,157 459 747,610
Other borrowed funds - 124,400 - - 124,400
Other financial liabilities 25 2,218 1,930 - 4,173
Subordinated debt - 227,179 - - 227,179
TOTAL NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES 65,338 1,018,052 39,090 487 1,122,967
OPEN BALANCE SHEET POSITION 243,135 (4,179) (3,987) 475
usp EUR December
UsD1 = EUR1 = Other 31, 2015
GEL GEL 2.3949 GEL 2.6169 currency Total
NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 36,469 84,934 51,761 507 173,671
Mandatory cash balance with the NBG - 72,609 4,226 - 76,835
Financial assets at fair value through profit 24,019 14,004 - 88 38,111
or loss
Due from financial Institutions 250 1,916 26 - 2,192
Loans to customers 209,011 603,269 12,338 - 824,618
Available-for-sale investments 60 9,957 - - 10,017
Held to maturity investments 18,919 S - - iB8,919
Other financial assets 1,759 5,013 919 - 7,691
TOTAL NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 290,487 791,702 69,270 595 1,152,054
ASSETS
NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES
Deposits by banks 57 10,038 45,162 - 55,257
Deposits by custorners 58,106 510,868 28,541 431 597,946
Other borrowed funds 41,911 - - - 41,911
Other financial liabilities 794 3,509 1,033 - 5,336
Subordinated debt - 188,744 - - 188,744
TOTAL NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 100,868 713,159 74,736 431 889,194
LIABILITIES
OPEN BALANCE SHEET POSITION 189,619 78,543 (5:466) 164
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Derivative financial instruments:
Gross settled:
- currency swaps 59,382 (60,678) - -

OPEN POSITION 245,001 17,865 (5,466) 164

Currency risk sensitivity

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 30% increase and decrease in the USD
against the GEL. 30% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally
to the key management personnel and represents the management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
period end for a 30% change in foreign currency rates.

Impact on net profit and equity based on asset values as at December 31, 2016 and 2015:

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
GEL/USD GEL/USD GEL/USD GEL/USD
+30% -30% +30% -30%
Impact on profit or loss before tax 1,254 {1,254) 23,563 (23,563)
Impact on equity 1,066 (1,066) 20,029 (20,029)

Limitations of sensitivity analysis

The above tables demonstrate the effect of a change in a key assumption while other assumptions
remain unchanged. In reality, there is a correlation between the assumptions and other factors. It
should also be noted that these sensitivities are non-linear, and larger or smaller impacts should
not be interpolated or extrapolated from these results.

The sensitivity analyses do not take into consideration that the Group’s assets and liabilities are
actively managed. Additionally, the financial position of the Group may vary at the time that any
actual market movement occurs. For example, the Group’s financial risk management strategy
aims to manage the exposure to market fluctuations. As investment markets move past various
trigger levels, management actions could include selling investments, changing investment
portfolio allocation and taking other protective action. Consequently, the actual impact of a
change in the assumptions may not have any impact on the liabilities, whereas assets are held at
market value in the consolidated statement of financial position. In these circumstances, the
different measurement bases for liabilities and assets may lead to volatility in shareholder equity.

Other limitations in the above sensitivity analyses include the use of hypothetical market
movements to demonstrate potential risk that only represent the Group's view of possible near-
term market changes that cannot be predicted with any certainty; and the assumption that all
interest rates move in an identical fashion.

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in
market prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security or
its issuer or factors affecting all securities traded in the market. The Group is exposed to price
risks of its products which are subject to general and specific market fluctuations.

The Group manages price risk through periodic estimation of potential losses that could arise from
adverse changes In market conditions and establishing and maintaining appropriate stop-loss
limits and margins and collateral requirements. With respect to undrawn loan commitments the
Group is potentially exposed to a loss of an amount equal to the total amount of such
commitments. However, the likely amount of a loss is less than that, since most commitments
are contingent upon certain conditions set out in the loan agreements.
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Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external
events. When controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have
legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial loss. The Group cannot expect to eliminate all
operational risks, but it endeavors to manage these risks through a control framework and by
monitoring and responding to potential risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties,
access, authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment processes.

33. Subsequent events
On January 1, 2017 the Group renegotiated terms on all subordinated loans by reducing interest

rate to 4.5%. The Management of the Group deems that decreased interest rate properly reflects
market condition for USD attracted funds.
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